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Notice of Annual 
General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Thirty Fifth Annual General Meeting of Barita 
Investments Limited will be held at the Courtleigh Hotel, 85 Knutsford 
Boulevard, Kingston 5, on Thursday February 21, 2013 at 10a.m., for 
the following purposes:

1.To receive and consider the Directors’ Report and Financial  
Statements for the year ended September 30, 2012, and the Report 
of the Auditors thereon.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution: -

Resolution 1
“THAT the Balance Sheet and the Profit and Loss Account  
together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors circulated 
with the Notice convening the meeting be and are hereby adopted.” 

2.“To approve and ratify the Final Dividend for the year under    
  review.”

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution: -

Resolution 2
“THAT the interim dividend of J$0.114c per share declared by the 
Board of Directors of the Company on December 14, 2012,  paid to 
ordinary shareholders of the Company on January 18, 2013 to share-
holders on record as at January 3, 2013, be approved and declared 
as a final dividend for the year ended September 30, 2012.”                               

3. To elect Directors and fix their remuneration.

(i) The Directors retiring from office by rotation pursuant to Article 93 
of the Articles of Incorporation are Mr. Karl Lewin and Mrs. Rita 
Humphries-Lewin.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolutions: -

Resolution 3 (a)
“THAT retiring Director Mr. Karl Lewin be and is hereby re-elected 

a Director of the Company.”

Resolution 3 (b)
“THAT retiring Director Mrs. Rita Humphries-Lewin be and is hereby 

re-elected a Director of the Company.”

4.  To appoint Auditors and authorize the Directors to fix the  
 remuneration of the Auditors.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following Resolution: -

Resolution 4
“THAT the Directors be authorized to fix the remuneration of the  

Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, who have signified their  
willingness to continue in office.”

5. To consider any other business of an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Ian McNaughton

Secretary

Kingston, Jamaica
January 21, 2013

Please note - A member entitled to attend and vote at the above-mentioned meeting is 
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and on a poll to vote instead of him. Such 
proxy must be lodged at the Company’s Registered Office no less than forty-eight hours 
before the meeting. A proxy need not be a member. A suitable form of proxy is enclosed.
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To be the premier investment 
services group in Jamaica 
and the Caribbean.

Our Mission

We Value

Safety
We are committed to providing secure 

investment products and services.

Integrity
We believe in communicating  

honestly with our clients and operating 
in an ethical and transparent manner.

Prudent Money Management
We practice wise management of  
your money and provide the best  

returns for your investment.
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Corporate Data

Barita Investments Limited was founded in 1977 by Rita Humphries-Lewin and 
has the distinction of being the oldest member of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 
The Company is licensed by the Financial Services Commission (FSC), and is 
a Primary Dealer and a Cambio Dealer for the Bank of Jamaica.

With a highly dedicated team of over seventy (70) professionals, Barita is  
committed to serving its customer’s island wide, through its head office in New 
Kingston, and branches in Mandeville and Montego Bay. 

Registered Office External Auditor

15 St. Lucia Way PricewaterhouseCoopers

Kingston 5, Jamaica Scotiabank Centre

Toll Free: 1-888-429-5333 Duke Street

Tel: (876) 926-2681 Kingston, Jamaica

Fax: (876) 929-3490

Subsidiary Internal Auditor

Barita Unit Trusts  Ernst & Young

Management Co Ltd. 8 Olivier Road

15 St. Lucia Way Kingston 8

Kingston 5, Jamaica 

Tel: (876) 968-8154

Fax: (876) 960-2512
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Branches Principal Banker

Mandeville First Caribbean  
Shop 2A, Manchester Shopping Centre International Bank

17 Caledonia Road  23 Knutsford Boulevard

Mandeville, Manchester Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 625-0031

Fax: (876) 625-3660

Montego Bay Registrar & Transfer Agents

Shop S301, Baywest Shopping Centre Jamaica Central  
Harbour Street Securities Depository

Montego Bay, St. James 40 Harbour Street

Tel: (876)940-7201 Kingston

Fax: (876)952-7306

Email: barita@cwjamaica.com

Website: www.barita.com

Corporate Data (cont’d)
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The impact of the global crisis on our local economy  
continues to have a significant impact on our 
market. Prudent Management and continued 
tweaking of our business model, has however 

led us to retain our record of never posting a loss.  

For the financial year October 1, 2011 to Sep-
tember 30, 2012, the company increased 

its profits by 16%, in a market where 
many companies fell flat or had neg-
ative returns. Led by our Board, our 
team members worked assiduously 
to meet the challenges created by 
a volatile economic environment, 
keeping to our core competencies 
and forging even stronger relation-
ships with our clients.

Increased taxes and a decrease in 
investor confidence did not stymie 
our resolve to enhance shareholder 
value. Profit after tax amounted to 
$254 million, which translated into 
earnings per share of $0.57cents. 

Net interest income rose by 1% from 
$449 million to $453 million with total 
revenues of $1,483 million.

Chairman’s Overview
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Chairman’s Overview (cont’d)

As we approached the anniversary of our 35th year in business, our 
strategies were centered on ensuring that our promise to our shareholders 
and stakeholders were met. During this financial year, our sales team 
ramped up efforts and introduced our Individual Retirement Scheme 
(IRS) product to the market. We also continued to benefit from the 
exceptional interest in our Tuition Builder product which promotes long 
term investing for future educational expenses. Treasury Management 
continued to be another main area of focus along with risk manage-
ment. The investment in technology also continued to be substantial, 
as we prepare to meet the future demands of our clientele and  
regulatory requirements.

Our operating costs grew by 9% due to our asset tax provisioning,  
marketing spend for our 35th anniversary celebrations and increase in 
our human resource capacity. Other costs have however remained flat, as 
we tried to minimize the impact of the costs of expanding our business.
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Chairman’s Overview (cont’d)

As Jamaica celebrates its 50th anniversary and Barita its 35th, we 
remain steadfast in our resolve to succeed despite the challenges that 
may come. Opportunity exists in every situation and we will continue 
to find them and increase shareholder value. 

I thank my Board, Management team and other team members for 
their contribution towards our solid performance this year. My gratitude 
also to our customers without whose loyalty and support, we would 
not survive. We look forward to another successful 35 years and  
beyond, as a premier financial services institution in Jamaica and the 
wider Caribbean.

Rita Humphries-Lewin  
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Report and the audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended September 30, 2012.

Financial Results

Full details of our results are set out in pages 49-113. We however 
highlight the following:

 Profit before Income tax $347,607,000

 Profit after tax  $254,963,000

Retiring Directors

Mr. Karl Lewin

Mrs. Rita Humphries-Lewin

Auditors

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will continue in office as Auditors in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 154(2) of the Companies Act. 

By Order of the Board,

January 21, 2013

Ian McNaughton

Company Secretary
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Board Selection and Composition 

Selection

Board members are selected to provide a balance 
of skills and experience for the company. Con-
sideration is given as to their reputation in their 
respective professions, their honesty and integrity, 
and the time available to devote to the Board and 
work of the committees. 

Composition

The Company’s Articles, requires that there be no 
less than two (2) and no more than ten (10) directors.  
As at September 30, 2012, the board of Barita 
Investments Limited consists of six (6) members, 
four (4) of which are Non Executive Directors, who 
analyze specific areas of the business to ensure 
that agreed goals and policies are met. 

Corporate Governance

The Policy requires that the 
Board meets for a minimum of 
six (6) times annually. During 
this financial period, six (6) 
board meetings were held.

The Board of Directors of Barita Investments Limited is committed to 
establishing and maintaining the highest standards of good corporate 
governance. The fundamental objective of good governance is to ensure 
transparency and accountability, in an effort to protect shareholders’ 
and stakeholders’ value.

The corporate governance policies are overseen by the Board who 
ensure that prudent and effective controls are in place, so that the  
company functions in a sound and sustainable way, and meets its  
strategic goals. It includes the stewardship of the organization’s assets 
and the management of risk to meet legal and regulatory requirements, 
and to ensure compliance.
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Corporate Governance (cont’d)

Board Committee

The Audit Committee has been appointed by the 
Board to provide guidance and oversight on strategic 
issues. The primary role of this committee is to 
provide the conduit between our internal auditors 
and the Board, regarding the strengthening and 
maintenance of internal processes vis-à-vis  
internal controls and operating compliance to  
established policy. 

Our internal auditors are Ernst and Young, and 
the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Carl 
Domville, Mr. Karl Lewin, Mr. R. Anthony Jenkinson 
and Mr. George W. Cooper. Mrs. Rita Humphries-
Lewin is an ex-officio member and the committee 
is chaired by Mr. Carl Domville who is a Non  
Executive Director.

Dur ing the per iod under  
review, the committee met for 
the required minimum of four 
(4) times. There were no known 
reported incidences of fraud or 
any reported irregularities.

Asset and Liabilities  
Management Committee

This committee is mandated to develop initiatives 
and strategies to mitigate the prudential risks faced 
by the organization. The committee members 
are Annie McCalla - Assistant Manager Risk & 
Compliance, Lynette James - Risk & Compliance 
Manager, Sonia Owens - Trading & Investments 
Manager, Lillian Reid – Finance Manager and 
Sean Taylor - Research Analyst. The committee 
is chaired by Ian McNaughton, General Manager 
and Company Secretary.

During this financial year, 
the Asset and Liabilities 
Management Committee 
met three(3) times.
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Corporate Governance (cont’d)

Investments Committee

The Investments committee while not being a board appointed committee 
does perform a critically important role in the Governance function of 
the organization. This committee is mandated to meet on a fortnightly 
basis, to examine the investment portfolios vis-à-vis equity, fixed income 
and bonds, and determine what assets need to be acquired or disposed 
of in order to maintain the viability of the portfolios. 

The Board remains committed to best practices. The Corporate 
Governance Policy will continue to be reviewed to ensure that 
the company’s core values of safety, integrity and prudent money 
management are met.



3. Rita Humphries-Lewin, C.D., 

Chairman

Mrs. Humphries-Lewin is the Founder and  
Chairman of Barita Investments Limited and 
is a pioneer in the financial services sector in  
Jamaica. Her sterling contribution to the  
development of the island’s Financial Industry 
led to her being conferred with The Order of 
Distinction Commander by the Government 
of Jamaica in the year 2000.

A philanthropist in many areas of the Jamaican 
society, her passion continues to rest in the 
field of early childhood education. She was 
honoured with a Doctorate Degree of Educa-
tion in Leadership by Mico University, for her 
contribution to early childhood development.

Board Members 

2. Anthony Jenkinson, LL.B. 

(Hons.) , M.A., J.P.

Mr. Jenkinson is the former Managing Partner 
and Senior Partner and now Consultant of 
the Law Firm Nunes Scholefield DeLeon and  
Company. He is a director of the Bermudez 
Group Limited, with whom he is presently a 
Group Executive, the Jamaica Biscuit  
Company Limited, Xsomo International Lim-
ited, and Fleetwood Jamaica Limited. He 
is also a former President of the American 
Chamber of Commerce of Jamaica, Colgate 
Palmolive Jamaica Limited and Goodyear 
Jamaica Limited.

1. Paul G.W. Cooper

Mr. Cooper is a former Senior 
Par tne r  a t  the  law f i rm o f  
Livingston, Alexander and Levy. He 
has over 40 years of experience 
in the areas of real estate, lenders’  
security documentation, company law 
and commercial law. He is a member 
of the Jamaica Bar Association and 
the Law Society of England and Wales. 
He also serves on the Boards of The 
Laws Street Trade Training Centre and  
Mustard Seed Communities.

1.

2.

3.



7. Mr. Ian McNaughton, B.Sc., MBA  

Company Secretary & General Manager

Mr. McNaughton joined Barita in 2008 and 
is the General Manager and Company  

Secretary of Barita Investments 
Limited. Currently, he also serves 

on the board of the Jamaica  
Cooperative Credit Union League 
and the St. Thomas Cooperative 
Credit Union. A noted football  
enthusiast, he is also a  

Director of the Harbour 
View Football Club.

5. John (Jackie) Minott B. 

Comm., C.D., J.P. , Deputy Chairman

Mr. Minott is the Managing Director of  
Jamaica Standard Products Company Limited. 
He sits on numerous boards and committees 
and is a Justice of the Peace for Manchester. 
In 2000, Mr. Minott was bestowed with the 
Order of Distinction, Commander Class (CD) 
for his outstanding contribution in the fields of  
Commerce and Export. 

6. Carl Domville, B.Sc. (Hons.) , 

F.C.C.A., F.C.A.,  

 Chairman – Audit Committee

Mr. Domville is the Chief Operating Officer 
and Group Treasurer of the Seprod Group of 
Companies. A chartered accountant, he also 
serves on the boards of the Golden Grove 
Sugar Company Ltd., Radio Jamaica Ltd., 
United Way of Jamaica and is a Governor of 
the National Foundation for the Development 
of Science and Technology.

4. Karl Lewin, B.Sc., MBA Managing 

Director, Barita Unit Trusts

Mr. Lewin is the Managing Director of 
Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
Limited since its inception in 1992. A 
career financial manager, he has held 
numerous management positions both 
locally and overseas. 

4.

5.

6.

7.
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Introduction

Amidst a fragile global economy that continued to buckle under 
the weight of the financial crises, Barita remained true to its core  
values and focused on prudent money management to respond to 
the challenges.

Our years of experience in financial markets were instructive and guided 
our team in strategizing to maximize our stakeholder’s portfolios.

Market Review

In the face of continued weakness in the domestic economy, slower 
global growth and uncertainty surrounding the timing and terms of a new 
IMF agreement, all markets declined in the period under review. The FX 
and stock markets have seen the gains made through to the last quarter 
of 2011 eroded, signaling decreased confidence among investors in the 
adequacy of fiscal measures to return stability to the markets. This lack 
of confidence was seen in the accelerated depreciation of the Jamaican 
dollar, significant declines across all Jamaican stock market indices and 
increasing yields on GOJ bonds.

The economy has also been burdened by imported inflation from lower 
than expected international agricultural yields and market instability, 
caused by continued challenges facing the European markets. However, 
potential for recovery of investor confidence exists, with the anticipated 
signing of an IMF agreement and recovery of global markets.

The Fixed Income Market

The Fixed Income market has suffered sentiments similar to those seen in 
the FX and stock markets. Concerns about the accelerated depreciation 
of the exchange rate, reductions in the net international reserves and 

Management  
Discussion & Analysis
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

uncertainty regarding the IMF agreements continued to cause market 
confidence to wane. 

Year on year inflation has fallen 142 basis points to 6.65% from 8.07% in 
September 2011. Anxiety and a preference for shorter term instruments 
saw Treasury Bill 30 day rates continuing their downward trend falling 
to 6.16%. The 90 day and 180 day rates reversed the downward trend 
from the end of 2011, to end the year at 6.36% and 6.57% respectively. 
During the July to September quarter, 70% of the funds raised by the 
Government of Jamaica were for variable rate instruments with many 
having a shorter tenure.

The Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) cut its 30 day rate last year to 6.25% and it 
remained unchanged for the period in review. The BOJ stated that this 
decision was taken in order to offset the effects of increases in interna-
tional commodity prices and implemented tax measures. Private money 
markets saw an increase in rates with the overnight rate averaging 
4.72% relative to 3.55% for the June 2012 quarter. The interbank and 
30 day repo rates averaged 5.63% and 6.51% respectively, relative 
to 3.9% and 6.31% for the June quarter. In August, the Government 
auctioned a new $4 billion Fixed rate instrument at 7.55%. The auction 
was successful and allotments were issued with a weighted average 
yield of 9.77% showing continued confidence in the GOJ instruments, 
though with a slight increase in concern for risk. During the final quarter, 
there was an increase in the average spread between the yields on 
GOJ global bonds and US treasury bonds of similar maturity by .1% to 
6.66%. This reflects market sentiment towards the global environment, 
specifically the debt crises in Europe, the US’s fiscal planning impasse 
and the continued delay of an IMF agreement with the GOJ.
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

The Stock Market 

The local stock market moved lower over the October 2011 to  
September 2012 reporting period, as interest rates remained flat and 
the economy reversed positive growth figures. The main JSE index 
moved down 5% from 91,771.90 to 87,188.38. The JSE Junior Market 
fared better and was up 4% in the same period. The Main JSE Index 
saw its gains made in the last financial year partly erased, depressing 
stock prices. 

The decline in equity prices was consistent with the downturn in the 
indices. This is in the face of growth in earnings of listed companies. It 
could be reasoned that the prevailing economic uncertainty and waning 
investor confidence have caused equities to be undervalued.  The fourth 
quarter signaled potential for a turnaround, as the advance to decline 
ratio improved to 8:17 from 3:27 and 6:25 in the preceding two quarters.  

Despite many short-term obstacles to growth, some local corporations 
have made major progress by cutting costs and strengthening their  
balance sheets, which has resulted in many blue chip companies posting 
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

The Foreign Exchange Market

The Jamaican dollar remained stable for Barita’s first quarter, broadly 
reflecting the stability in local markets at the time. In January 2012 the 
situation changed and the Bank of Jamaica has been forced to intervene 
in the foreign exchange market in an attempt to decrease volatility and 
stem the depreciation of the dollar. Trading during the year saw the USD 
sell for as much as $93.61. With these interventions there has been a 
decline in the net international reserves of 36% and depreciation in the 
dollar of 4%. These trends have since continued. 

improved earnings. During the review period, only one company did an 
initial public offer on the stock market.  C2W Music Ltd., an intellectual 
property start-up company, successfully raised $129 million in May on 
the junior market.

Though the local stock market has remained volatile through the year, it 
has given investors an opportunity to buy attractive stocks at discounted 
prices. Stock market valuations (such as price relative to earnings)  
remain the key variable in long-term stock performance.
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Financial Performance

For the financial year October 2011 to September 2012, Barita Investments 
Limited posted a 16% increase in net profits amounting to $254 million 
dollars; translating to $0.57c per share. Profit before taxation continues 
to show year over year improvements, despite weakness in the economy. 

This improvement has come as we continue to perform at record levels, 
by increasing our operating revenues across all income streams and 
strengthening our balance sheet leading to improved earnings power 
and cash flow generation.

Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

Barita’s Financial Performance
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

Net operating income saw an 
increase of 8% year over year 
to $809 million. This improve-
ment in revenues comes as 
a part of our strategy to di-
versify away from a reliance 
on net interest income and  
instead focus on non-interest 
based revenues.

Net Interest income for the year 
2012 was $453 million com-
pared to $449 million for 2011, 
a 1% increase of $4.5 million 
dollars. Dividend income saw a 
19% increase over the period, 
while Cambio Income/Transla-
tion gains/ (losses) reflected 
a $35 million gain in 2012 or 

288% growth. Fees and Commissions saw a 62% increase year over 
year, while Trading gains which contributes to 25% of revenues, recorded 
a 2% decline compared to prior year, due to the fall in confidence in 
the bond markets.

Total expense increased by 9% for the period under review. This  
increase in operating expenses was attributed to a 21%, 25% and 17% 
increase in staff costs, advertising costs and utilities respectively. At 
the end of the financial year we celebrated our 35th Anniversary and 
held a range of activities for both our staff and clients to commemorate 
this milestone. This was the major contributor to the increase in our 
advertising costs. Also affecting our costs was the increase in asset 

Revenue Performance
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taxes outlined in the government’s fiscal budget. This led to us providing 
for approximately $16.5 million dollars in additional taxes. In addition, 
staff costs increased, as a key strategy we have maintained in order 
to grow our profitability, is to ensure that we have recruited talented 
people while embarking on initiatives to train and motivate our current 
staff complement.

Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

Operating Expenses ($000’s)

Financial Position ($Millions)
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

Assets and Liabilities

Barita Investments Limited‘s asset base fell by 8% over 2011, mainly due 
to a 9% reduction in our Investments Securities which contributes to 94% 
of our total assets. The company’s liabilities likewise fell by 9%, primarily 
due to an 8% decrease in repurchase securities held for clients.

Asset Categories ($Millions)

Liabilities Categories ($Millions)
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

 2012 2011

Actual Required Actual Required

Regulatory Capital/ 
Risk-weighted assets

18% >10% 22% >10%

Tier 1 Capital/Capital base 94% >50% 93% >50%

Shareholders’ Equity

Though we saw a 40% increase in retained earnings, the company saw 
a 3% decrease in shareholders’ equity. The lack of investor confidence 
in the bond markets saw the prices in our bond portfolio reducing, 
reflecting the 62% decrease in our fair value reserves. 

Capital Adequacy Ratios

Barita continues to comply and surpass the minimum requirements of 
all the regulatory requirements of the primary regulator, The Financial 
Services Commission and also the Jamaica Stock Exchange. The new 
capital requirements of the Financial Services Commission require that:

• Foreign currency denominated Government Bonds now have a risk 
weighting of 100%. We continue to surpass this requirement, but will 
restructure our asset base to meet this increased capital requirement.
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

Associated Company

Barita Unit Trusts 

Barita Unit Trusts is a wholly owned subsidiary of Barita Investments 
Limited. Barita Unit Trusts is comprised of The Management Company, 
a Capital Growth Fund and a Money Market Fund. 

The Management Company

For the financial period under review, the Management Company 
recorded total revenues of $77 million, as against $65 million prior 
year. This increase is attributable to a 43% increase in Management 
Fees, earned through an aggressive push of the Barita Money Market 
Fund. Funds under management therefore increased to $3billion as 
at September 30, 2012.

Expenses (which include operating and interest costs), were $52 million 
for 2012, compared to $48 million for prior year 2011. Profit before tax 
for the year was $24 million, compared to prior results of $16 million. 
Profit after taxation was $18 million, compared to prior results of $8 
million.

Assets increased by 5% to $229 million. This increase in assets is 
attributable to a 37% increase in deposits (repurchase agreements). 
There was also a 1% reduction in liabilities attributable to a net in the 
reduction of borrowings. Shareholder’s equity increased by $11million 
to $132 million.



Executive Team

1. Sonia Owens – Manager,  

Trading & Investments

Mrs. Owens joined the Barita Group as a 
Secretary in 1984 and is now the Trading 
and Investments Manager. She holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in Banking and Finance 
from the University of the West Indies, 
has attended several professional training 
courses with JIM, JIB, CI Financial and 
Euro Finance and is currently pursuing 
an MBA at Edinburgh Business School.

3. Dorothea James – Manager, 

Risk & Compliance 

Mrs. James joined Barita in 1992 as the 
Acting Accounts and Finance Manager 
and has served as the Risk and Com-
pliance Manager since 2004. Prior to  
joining Barita, she was a Management 
Consultant and Financial Analyst for many 
years at the now defunct Julius Edwards 
and Company. She was also an Auditor  
Supervisor at Mair Russell and Partners.

2. Joseph Cools-Lartigue –  

Manager, Information Technology

Mr. Cools-Lartigue joined Barita in April 
2002 as the Manager of Information 
Technology. 

Joseph is a graduate of the University  
of Technology, where he pursued  
undergraduate studies in Computer and 
Management Studies. 

1.

2.

3.

4.



4. Claudine McLeish – Manager,  

Operations

Ms. McLeish joined Barita in 2003 as a 
Cambio Trader and in 2005 was promoted 
to Operations Manager. She has over 24 
years of experience in banking, having 
worked at NCB and Manufacturers Sigma 
Merchant Bank in various positions. She 
holds a MBA in Finance and Banking from 
Manchester Business School and a Diploma 
in Compliance from the International 
Compliance Association.

7. Angelia Thomson – Manager,  

Human Resources

Mrs. Thomson joined Barita Unit Trusts 
Management Company Limited in 2001 
as an Administrative Officer and in 2005 
was transferred to Barita Investments as 
the Human Resources Manager. She has 
many years of experience in the admin-
istrative field and has completed several 
courses in human resource management.

6. Dianne Clunie-Wallace –  

Manager, Marketing & Client Services

Mrs. Clunie-Wallace joined Barita in 
July of 2004 as the Marketing Manager 
and in August of 2005, was promoted 
to the position of Marketing and Client 
Services Manager. She holds a Bach-
elors of Arts in Business Administration 
(Marketing Major) from the University 
of Technology and a MBA from Nova 
Southeastern University.

5. Neilson Rose – Manager,  

Business Development

Mr. Rose joined Barita on September 
6, 2010. An Investment Management 
Specialist, he holds a BSc. in Business 
Administration (Finance major) from The 
Northern Caribbean University. 

As a senior executive in the financial  
services sector for over seven years, 
he holds a wealth of experience in  
Equities Trading, Asset Management,  
Pension Fund Management and Portfo-
lio Management.

5. 6.

7.



Executive Team (cont’d)

9. Lillian Reid – Manager, Finance

Ms. Reid joined Barita on April 4, 2011 
as the Accountant and was promoted to 
Finance Manager on December 1, 2011. 
With over seven (7) years of experience 
at a senior level in the accounting field, 
she is a Chartered Accountant qualified 
through FTC - Kaplan International  
College in London.

10. Vanessa Williams – Manager, 

Mandeville Branch

Mrs. Williams joined Barita Investments 
Limited in 2002 as the Manager of our 
Mandeville Branch. She has over 20 
years of experience in the financial sector  
having worked at NCB, Century National 
Bank, DB&G and Manufacturers Sigma 
Merchant Bank. She holds a MBA in Fi-
nance from Manchester Business School 
and a Certificate in Compliance from the 
International Compliance Association.

8. Geneieve Harty – Manager,  

Montego Bay Branch

Mrs. Harty joined Barita in August 2002 as 
an Account Executive and was promoted 
in 2005 to the position of Manager, Mon-
tego Bay Branch. She has over 25 years 
experience in the financial sector, having 
worked in administration and investments 
at several of the country’s leading financial 
institutions. Mrs. Harty holds a BSc. in 
Management Studies (First Class Honours) 
from the University of the West Indies and 
a Certificate in Compliance from the 
International Compliance Association.

9.

8. 10.



Barita Investments Ltd. / Annual Report 2012 

29

In this past financial year, Barita supported numerous events and 
charities, as we remain conscious of the import of corporate citizenry 
to our country. Our focus remains at the early childhood level, as our 
goal is to have a long and sustainable impact through the charities 
we support.

Impacting Education –  
The Barita Education Foundation

Each year, the mandate of Barita’s Education Foundation, is the 
development of Literacy and Numeracy at the early childhood level 

in vulnerable commu-
nities. With a spend 
of approximately $8.7 
million for the period 
October 1, 2011 – June 
30, 2012, the Founda-
tion provided support to 
26 schools, who over 
the past 10 years have 
impacted over 10,000 
children, 312 teachers 
and 850 parents. 

Detailed analysis of 
the schools and issues 
at the early childhood 
level, have led the B.E.F 
to create a programme 

that operates over a two year period or more in the schools in which 
they are invited to intervene. The children are taught through an inte-
grated agenda that incorporates their classroom teachers and also 
their parents. Early Childhood Practitioners employed by Barita are 
assigned to the schools and through direct classroom intervention 

Corporate Social  
Responsibility
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and scheduled workshops, the Basic School teachers’ instructional skills 
and knowledge in Literacy and Numeracy are enhanced. 

A critical complement to the programme is its parenting programme. 
Working with parents and guardians, Barita employs Social Workers 
who use various methodologies to improve parental consciousness, 
understanding and participation in their childs’ development.

Corporate Social Responsibility (cont’d)

B.E.F. Teacher Rochelle  
Williams (Far left), uses direct 
classroom intervention with 
Teacher Silvia Doyle.

Janet Brown (B.E.F. 
Director) conducts a 
parenting workshop.  
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Corporate Social Responsibility (cont’d)

Impacting Young Athletes -  
The Harbour View Football Club

Barita is in the second year of a two year $750,000 contract with the 
HVFC’s First-Kick Programme. The programme targets children between 
the ages of 5 – 11 with the aim of improving their life skills. Barita 
contributes to this programme by awarding quarterly children who excel 
based on punctuality and regular attendance, discipline, performance 
and parental support. There is also an award for the ‘Best Academic 
Achiever’ for each quarter, to promote the importance of the children 
excelling in both academics and sports. 

To date, over 90 children have had accounts opened to assist with their 
future education expenses.

Engaging our Parents - 
Fathers of children in our 
partner schools compete 
in a 3 legged race at the 
annual PTA Sports Rally.  
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Corporate Social Responsibility (cont’d)

Neilson Rose, Business 
Development Manager, 
at Barita discusses the  
importance of investing with 
parents and children of the 
HVFC First Kick Club. 

3rd quarter winners pose 
with Neilson Rose, Business 
Development Manager.
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Corporate Social Responsibility (cont’d)

Kar l  Lewin,  Managing  
Director of Barita Unit 
Trusts (centre) and Bianca 
Will iams (Marketing Of-
ficer) hold aloft a painting 
contributed as a gift item to 
the St. Andrew Care Centre 
golf tournament.

Along with our work at the early childhood level, we continue to support 
the following charities:

• Missionaries of the Poor 

• St. Andrew Care Centre 

• Lions Club of Kingston 

• Teen Challenge Jamaica

• Mustard Seed

At Barita, we remain committed to serving our communities. We will 
continue to focus our energies on Jamaica’s children through the 
Barita Education Foundation and will embrace other opportunities to 
make a difference.

Impacting the Vulnerable
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On September 7, 2012, Barita celebrated 35 years of success in the 
financial services sector. With the average company staying in 
business for less than seven years, this once-in-a lifetime achievement 
was celebrated through a number of activities held during the week of 
September 2-7, 2012.

Church Service and Staff Awards Ceremony

The week of activities began with a church service on September 2 held 
at The Swallowfied Chapel. It was followed by a Long Service Awards 
Ceremony for team members and their families.

BARITA at 35

Team members stand 
together to receive 
a special blessing at 
Swallowfied Chapel.



Breaking bread together 
while enjoying the festivities.

Long service team members:

Back row L-R – Joseph Cools-Lartigue (10 years), Debbie 
Watson (19 years) , Tanishe Betancourt (13 years), Angelia 
Thomson(10 years), Francine Fairman(20 years), Vanessa 
Williams(10 years), Barbara Valentine(16 years), Alexander 
Davis(18 years)

Front Row L-R – Carl Jackson (28 years), Deloris Briscoe 
(17 years), Tracey Haughton (13 years), Desreen Griffiths (20 
years), Geneieve Harty (10 years), Sonia Owens (28 years), 
Karl Lewin (20 years)

Missing from pics – Karlene Thompson (18 years), Dorothea 
James (19 years)
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Barita Education Foundation Motivation Breakfast

The Company honoured the teachers associated with the Foundation 
by hosting a motivation breakfast on September 5.

BARITA at 35 (cont’d)

Guest Speakers Dr. Maureen 
Samms-Vaughn, Chairman of the 
Early Childhood Commission (far 
left) & The Honourable Ronald 
Thwaites, Minister of Education 
(2nd right) converse with  Barita 
Board members Carl Domville (2nd 
left) and Rita Humphries-Lewin.



Guests enjoyed the presentation 
from children from one of our 
Partner schools – Regent Street 
S.D.A. Early Childhood Centre.
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Montego Bay Branch Client Cocktail Party

Our clients in Western Jamaica were hosted at the Seawind Club on 
Wednesday September 5, in celebration of our 35th anniversary.

BARITA at 35 (cont’d)

Geneieve Harty, Montego Bay Branch 
Manager (far left) introduces her 
team. L-R Kadia Taylor, Cleopatra 
Gayle and Marlene Nicholson.



Bar i ta  Team members f rom a l l  
locations, pose with Guest Speaker 
Davon Crump, head of the Montego 
Bay Chamber of Commerce (5th 
from left) and Mayor Glendon Harris 
(far right).

Geneieve Harty, Montego Bay Branch 
Manager (far right) and Karl Lewin, 
Barita Unit Trusts Managing Director, 
(far left), greets the camera alongside 
Kathy Cooke and Davon Crump.
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BARITA at 35 (cont’d)

Bell Ringing Ceremony

Barita’s birthday, September the 7th, began with a bellringing ceremony 
at the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

JSE Executive Members and 
Barita Board Members look 
on as Mrs. Rita Humphries-
Lewin rang the bell opening the  
exchange in commemoration of 
our anniversary and designation 
as the oldest stockbroker.
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Customer Appreciation Day

All 3 Barita locations hosted their customers throughout the day. 

Father Holung & the brothers 
from the Missionaries of the 
Poor leads a rousing musical 
lunch hour at the head office 
in Kingston.
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BARITA at 35 (cont’d)

Kingston Client Cocktail Party

Kingston Clients were entertained by Dwight Richards & Comedian  
Dr. Michael Abrahams to close off the week of celebrations.

Rita Humphries-Lewin cuts the cake 
with Guest Speaker Milton Samuda, 
former head of the Jamaica Chamber 
of Commerce (2nd left) and Barita 
Team members Sonia Owens and 
Sean Taylor.
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Guests enjoy the performances.
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Shareholdings of the 10 Largest Ordinary Shareholders

Shareholdings of Directors  
& Connected Parties

Shareholder Amount
Rita Humphries-Lewin 340,199,580

Peta-Rose Hall 27,338,814

First Caribbean International  
Securities Limited A/C B.U.T.

10,262,231

Karl Lewin 5,625,322

George William Cooper

       Connected Party

4,502,322

   800,000

John Minott 4,502,322

Monica L. Cools-Lartigue

       Connected Party

4,200,000

    100,000

Yvonne Shaw 4,200,000

Agnes Barbara Humphries 4,000,000

Gloria Omphroy 3,636,450
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Shareholdings of Directors  
& Connected Parties (cont’d)

Shareholdings of Directors and Connected Parties

Director Shareholding
Rita Humphries Lewin                     340,199,580

John Minott                                   5,377,322

Robert A. Jenkinson 875,000

George William Cooper                        5,302,322

Carl Domville

           Connected Party

2,147,727

84,000

 Karl Lewin 5,675,322

Manager Shareholding
Ian McNaughton 26,000

Sonia Owens 240,000

Dorothea Lynette James 15,000

Claudine McLeish 5,000

Vanessa Lawrence-Williams 15,000

Geneieve Harty 

           Connected Parties

35,000

39,000

Shareholdings of Senior Managers and Connected Parties
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Five Year Statistical Review
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Five Year Statistical Review (cont’d)
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Audited Financial Statements
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  S E P T E M B E R  3 0  2 0 1 2
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers,  Scotiabank Centre, Duke and Port Royal Street, Jamaica 
T: 876 922 6230 / 876 952 5065, F: 876 922 7581, www.pwc.com/jm 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
To the Members of 
Barita Investments Limited 
 
Report on the Consolidated and Company Stand Alone Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Barita Investments Limited and 
its subsidiary (the Group), set out on pages 1 to 62, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 September 2012 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the accompanying financial statements of Barita 
Investments Limited standing alone, which comprise the statement of financial position as at  
30 September 2012 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated and  
Company Stand Alone Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated and company stand alone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and company stand alone financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and company stand alone financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and company stand alone financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated and company stand alone financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and 
company stand alone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated and 
company stand alone financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and company stand alone financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
  

52-113,
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Independent Auditors’ Report (cont’d)

Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2

 

Barita Investments Limited 
Independent Auditors’ Report  
Page 2 
 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of Barita Investments Limited and its subsidiary, 
and the financial statements of Barita Investments Limited standing alone give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and the company as at 30 September 2012, and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, so far as concerns the members of Barita Investments 
Limited, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Jamaican Companies Act. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 
records, and the accompanying consolidated financial statements are in agreement therewith and give the 
information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required. 

 
Chartered Accountants 
4 December 2012 
Kingston, Jamaica 
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Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income
Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2
( e x p r e s s e d  i n  J a m a i c a n  d o l l a r s  u n l e s s  o t h e r w i s e  i n d i c a t e d )

Page 1 

Barita Investments Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 
 

 

 Note  
2012 

$’000  

  
2011 

$’000 

Net Interest Income and Other Revenue      

Interest income   1,127,269  1,337,377 

Interest expense   (673,985)  (888,745) 

Net interest income   453,284  448,632 

Fees and commission income   94,562  58,546 

Dividend income   8,031  6,758 

Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   46,632  12,019 

Gain on sale of investments   203,959  207,852 

Other   2,512  14,146 

Net operating revenue   808,980  747,953 

Operating Expenses      

Staff costs 7  (250,940)  (207,715) 

Administration costs   (206,362)  (154,185) 

Impairment of available-for-sale investment   (4,071)  (61,277) 

 6  (461,373)  (423,177) 

Profit before Taxation   347,607  324,776 

Taxation 8  (92,644)  (105,697) 

Profit for the Year   254,963  219,079 

Other Comprehensive Income:      

Unrealised (losses)/gains on available- for- sale investments, 
net of taxes 8  (211,341)  507,806 

Net gains recycled to profit or loss on disposal, maturity, and 
impairment of available -for- sale investments, net of taxes 8  (61,690)  (97,717) 

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment,  
net of taxes 8  -  27,403 

   (273,031)  437,492 

Total Comprehensive Income   (18,068)  656,571 

      

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 15  $0.57  $0.49 
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Barita Investments Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 
 

 

       Note  
2012 

$’000 

  
2011 

$’000 
ASSETS         

Cash and bank balances   10  122,144  111,650 
Securities purchased under resale agreements   11  1,308,449  1,465,705 
Marketable securities    12  6,270,441  8,471,381 
Pledged assets   13  5,102,514  4,029,643 
Receivables   14  418,754  440,473 
Loans receivable     106,505  73,753 
Due from related parties   16  13,751  9,667 
Property, plant and equipment   17  169,667  167,944 
Intangible assets   18  50,425  35,503 
Investments   19  2  2 
Total assets     13,562,652  14,805,721 
        

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Liabilities        
Bank overdraft   10  2,851  4,288 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements     11,287,523  12,306,108 
Payables   21  97,458  82,769 
Due to related parties   16  582  1,576 
Redeemable preference shares   22  206,507  205,968 
Convertible preference shares   22  3,460  3,460 
Taxation     90,714  113,377 
Deferred tax liabilities   20  172,184  328,605 
Total liabilities     11,861,279  13,046,151 

Shareholders’ Equity        
Share capital   22  765,154  765,154 
Treasury shares   22  (10,145)  (10,145) 
Capital reserve   23  28,506  28,506 
Fair value reserve   24  163,845  436,876 
Retained earnings     754,013  539,179 
Total shareholders’ equity     1,701,373  1,759,570 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity     13,562,652  14,805,721 

 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 December 2012 and signed on its behalf by: 
   
   
Rita Humphries-Lewin Director  Carl Domville Director 
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Barita Investments Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  
Share 

Capital 
Treasury 

Shares 
Capital 

Reserve 
Fair Value 

Reserve 
Retained 
Earnings Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 30 September 2010  765,154 (10,145) 1,103 26,787 335,705 1,118,604 
Total comprehensive income        
Profit for the year  - - - - 219,079 219,079 
Other comprehensive income  - - 27,403 410,089 - 437,492 
  - - 27,403 410,089 219,079 656,571 
Transactions with owners:        
Dividends paid  - - - - (15,605) (15,605) 
  - - - - (15,605) (15,605) 
Balance at 30 September 2011  765,154 (10,145) 28,506 436,876 539,179 1,759,570 
Total comprehensive income        
Profit for the year  - - - - 254,963 254,963 
Other comprehensive income  - - - (273,031) - (273,031) 
  - - - (273,031) 254,963 (18,068) 
Transactions with owners:        
Dividends paid  - - - - (40,129) (40,129) 
  - - - - (40,129) (40,129) 
Balance at 30 September 2012  765,154 (10,145) 28,506 163,845 754,013 1,701,373 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
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Barita Investments Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 Note 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Net profit   254,963  219,079 
Adjusted for:     

Depreciation and amortisation  15,114  11,795 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  (25,757)  (641) 
Impairment of available-for-sale investments  4,071  61,277 
Interest income  (1,127,269)  (1,337,377) 
Interest expense  673,985  888,745 
Taxation expense 8 92,644  105,697 

  (112,249)  (51,425) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Marketable securities, net  837,711  (2,343,709) 
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  165,949  409,562 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  (1,127,866)  1,519,418 
Receivables  21,719  (3,736) 
Loans receivable, net  (32,752)  (14,329) 
Payables  14,690  (8,383) 
Due from related companies  (5,078)  2,995 

  (237,876)  (489,607) 
Interest received  1,134,136  1,325,124 
Interest paid  (661,536)  (913,657) 
Income tax paid  (127,829)  (4,526) 
Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  106,895  (82,666) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  3 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (14,823)  (6,300) 
Purchase of intangible asset  (16,936)  (20,414) 
Cash used in investing activities  (31,759)  (26,711) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Interest paid on preference shares  (25,229)  (27,017) 
Dividends paid  (40,129)  (15,605) 
Cash used in financing activities  (65,358)  (42,622) 

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents  2,153  94 
Increase/(decrease)  in net cash and cash equivalents  11,931  (151,905) 
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  107,362  259,267 
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 10 119,293  107,362 

Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows
Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2
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Barita Investments Limited 
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 Note  
2012 

$’000  

  
2011 

$’000 

Net Interest Income and Other Revenue      

Interest income   1,131,258  1,347,120 

Interest expense   (679,630)  (899,686) 

Net interest income   451,628  447,434 

Fees and commission income   34,912  16,321 

Dividend income   8,031  6,758 

Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   46,632  12,019 

Gain on sale of investments   200,348  201,597 

Other   694  14,719 

Net operating revenue   742,245  698,848 

Operating Expenses      

Staff costs 7  (224,684)  (188,968) 

Administration costs   (190,771)  (140,326) 

Impairment of available-for-sale investment   (4,071)  (61,277) 

 6  (419,526)  (390,571) 

Profit before Taxation   322,719  308,277 

Taxation 8  (87,860)  (97,120) 

Profit for the Year   234,859  211,157 

Other Comprehensive Income:      
Unrealised (losses)/gains on available- for- sale investments net 

of taxes 8  (204,872)  497,267 

Net gains recycled to profit or loss on disposal, maturity and 
impairment of available -for- sale investments, net of taxes 8  (61,690)  (93,546) 

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, net of 
taxes 8  -  27,403 

   (266,562)  431,124 

Total Comprehensive Income   (31,703)  642,281 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Company Statement 
of Comprehensive Income
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Barita Investments Limited 
Company Statement of Financial Position 
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 

   Note  
2012 

$’000 

  
2011 

$’000 
ASSETS         

Cash and bank balances   10  121,650  107,343 
Securities purchased under resale agreements   11  1,308,449  1,465,705 
Marketable securities    12  6,205,668  8,404,637 
Pledged assets   13  5,102,514  4,029,643 
Receivables   14  411,687  436,335 
Loans receivable     174,544  156,378 
Due from related parties   16  7,845  7,974 
Property, plant and equipment   17  168,568  165,987 
Intangible assets   18  50,425  35,503 
Investment   19  2     2 
Investment in subsidiary     85,700  85,700 
Total assets     13,637,052  14,895,207 
        

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
Liabilities        

Bank overdraft   10  1,642  4,288 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements     11,341,845  12,344,506 
Payables   21  80,581  75,116 
Due to related parties   16  582  1,478 
Redeemable preference shares   22  299,970  299,970 
Convertible preference shares   22  3,460  3,460 
Taxation     82,132  109,201 
Deferred tax liabilities   20  171,852  330,368 
Total liabilities     11,982,064  13,168,387 

Shareholders’ Equity        
Share capital   22  765,154  765,154 
Treasury shares   22  (9,500)  (9,500) 
Capital reserve   23  90,361  90,361 
Fair value reserve   24  165,157  431,719 
Retained earnings     643,816  449,086 
Total shareholders’ equity     1,654,988  1,726,820 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity     13,637,052  14,895,207 

 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 December 2012 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 

  

Rita Humphries-Lewin Director  Carl Domville Director 

Company Statement 
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Barita Investments Limited 
Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 

  
Share 

Capital 
Treasury 

Shares 
Capital 

Reserve 
Fair Value 

Reserve 
Retained 
Earnings Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 30 September 2010  765,154 (9,500) 62,958 27,998 253,534 1,100,144 

Total Comprehensive income        

Profit for the year  - - - - 211,157 211,157 

Other comprehensive income  - - 27,403 403,721 - 431,124 

  - - 27,403 403,721 211,157 642,281 

Transactions with owners:        

Dividends paid  - - - - (15,605) (15,605) 
  - - - - (15,605) (15,605) 

Balance at 30 September 2011  765,154 (9,500) 90,361 431,719 449,086 1,726,820 

Total comprehensive income        

Profit for the year  - - - - 234,859 234,859 

Other comprehensive income  - - - (266,562) - (266,562) 

  - - - (266,562) 234,859 (31,703) 

Transactions with owners:        

Dividends paid  - - - - (40,129) (40,129) 

  - - - - (40,129) (40,129) 

Balance at 30 September 2012  765,154 (9,500) 90,361 165,157 643,816 1,654,988 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Company Statement of Changes 
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Barita Investments Limited 
Company Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 

   Note 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
Net profit   234,859  211,157 
Adjusted for:     

Depreciation and amortisation  14,122  10,815 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  (25,757)  (641) 
Impairment of available-for-sale investments  4,071  61,277 
Interest income  (1,131,258)  (1,347,120) 
Interest expense  679,630  899,686 
Income tax expense 8 87,860  97,120 

  (136,473)  (67,706) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Marketable securities, net  837,754  (2,349,183) 
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  165,949  409,562 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  (1,111,942)  1,503,654 
Receivables  24,648  (9,854) 
Loans receivable, net  (18,166)  39,615 
Payables  5,464  (9,890) 
Due from related companies  (767)  1,504 

  (233,533)  (482,298) 
Interest received  1,139,696  1,337,905 
Interest paid  (667,181)  (910,495) 
Taxation paid  (127,199)  - 
Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  111,783  (54,888) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  3 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (14,689)  (6,278) 
Purchase of intangible asset  (16,936)  (20,414) 
Cash used in investing activities  (31,625)  (26,689) 

Cash Flows from Financing  Activities     
Interest paid on preference shares  (25,229)  (41,120) 
Dividends paid  (40,129)  (15,605) 
Cash used in financing activities  (65,358)  (56,725) 

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents  2,153  94 
Increase/(decrease)  in net cash and cash equivalents  16,953  (138,208) 
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year           103,055  241,263 
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 10 120,008  103,055 

Company Statement 
of Cash Flows
Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2
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Barita Investments Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements   
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

1. Identification, Regulation and Licence 

Barita Investments Limited (Barita, the company) is a limited liability company incorporated and resident in 
Jamaica, with its registered office at 15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5.  

 
The company is a licensed securities dealer and has primary dealer status from the Bank of Jamaica (BoJ). It is 
licensed under the Securities Act and is regulated by the Financial Services Commission (FSC).  
 
The company’s ordinary and preference shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE).   
 
The principal activities of the company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Barita Unit Trusts Management 
Company Limited (collectively referred to as “the Group”) are stocks and securities brokerage, money market 
activities, cambio operations, and funds management.  
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(a)  Basis of preparation  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities, and certain items of property, plant and equipment. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant for the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards effective in the current financial 
year 
Certain amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that became effective 
during the current financial period. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new interpretations 
and amendments and has concluded that the following is relevant to its operations: 
 
• IAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2011). The revised standard clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of other 
comprehensive income for each component of equity either in the statement of changes in equity or in 
the notes to the financial statements. 

 
• IAS 24 (Revised), ‘Related party disclosures’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2011). The revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and 
provides certain exemptions for government-related entities. The adoption of the revised standard did 
not have any impact on the financial statements. 
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Barita Investments Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements   
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 

2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards that are not effective 
in the current financial year (continued) 
The Group has assessed the relevance of all other new standards, interpretations and amendments, has 
determined that the following may be relevant to its operations, and has concluded as follows: 

 
• IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’. (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2015).  The standard addresses the principles for the financial reporting of financial assets and financial 
liabilities to ensure that relevant and useful information is presented to users of financial statements. It 
replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only 
two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. The standard will eventually replace IAS 39 - 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  

 
The standard is mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, however earlier 
adoption is permitted. Management is assessing the impact of adoption of the standard on the Group. 
 

• IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2013). This standard replaces IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
SIC-12, Consolidation-Special Purpose Entities. The standard requires an entity that is a parent to 
present consolidated financial statements. A limited exemption is available to some entities. The 
standard addresses certain instances of divergence in practice in applying IAS 27 and SIC-12, for 
example, entities varied in their application of the control concept in circumstances in which a reporting 
entity controls another entity but holds less than a majority of the voting rights of the entity, and in 
circumstances involving agency relationships. In addition, a perceived conflict of emphasis between IAS 
27 and SIC-12 had led to inconsistent application of the concept of control. IAS 27 required the 
consolidation of entities that are controlled by a reporting entity, and it defined control as the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. SIC-12, 
which interpreted the requirements of IAS 27 in the context of special purpose entities, placed greater 
emphasis on risks and rewards. The Group will apply the standard from 1 October 2013 but it is not 
expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

 
• IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2013). This standard applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. The standard requires an entity to 
disclose information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks 
associated with, its interests in other entities; and the effects of those interests on its financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. The Group will apply the standard from 1 October 2013 and it is 
not expected to have any significant impact on current disclosures.  
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Barita Investments Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements   
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 

2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards that are not effective 
in the current financial year (continued) 
 
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).  

The standard explains how to measure fair value for financial reporting. It defines fair value; sets out in 
a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair value; and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. This standard applies to those standards that require or permit fair value measurements 
or disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, 
based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances. The 
Group will apply the standard from 1 October 2013 and it will result in expanded disclosure in the 
financial statements. 

 
(b)  Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting 
rights or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies, are consolidated. 
 

(i)   Acquisitions from third parties 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no 
longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. The Group uses the acquisition method of 
accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests 
issued by the Group.  The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree’s either at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 

 
(ii)  Acquisitions involving entities under common control 

The predecessor method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions involving entities under 
common control, as such acquisitions are outside of the scope of IFRS 3. Under the predecessor 
method of accounting, the acquiring entity consolidates the results and net assets of the acquired entity 
either from the date of acquisition, or as if the acquisition had always taken place, and the current 
structure had always been in existence.  In electing to utilise the latter option, the prior year’s 
comparatives are restated.  
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b)  Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

 (ii)  Acquisitions involving entities under common control (continued) 
In applying the predecessor method, the purchase consideration for the acquisition is eliminated 
against the book value of net assets acquired (adjusted for inconsistencies in accounting policies) with 
any resulting difference being dealt with as an adjustment to equity.  There is no goodwill created, nor 
is there any negative goodwill recognised. 
 
The Group has elected to treat all such acquisitions as if the acquisition had taken place in previous 
years. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 
are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The 
accounting policies of the subsidiary are consistent with those adopted by the Group. 

 
(c) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of directors that 
makes strategic decisions. 

 
(d) Foreign currency translation 

 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using Jamaican dollars, which is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the company operates. The financial statements for 
the group and the company are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is also the company’s functional 
currency. 
  
Translations and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss for the year.   
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-
for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the 
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.  Translation differences related to 
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the profit or loss for the year, and other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets, are included in the fair value reserve through other comprehensive income. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(e)   Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial 
liability or equity of another entity. 
 
Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  loans and receivables and available for 
sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at 
every reporting date. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are initially recorded at cost, which is the cash given to originate the debt 
including any transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Loans and receivables on the statement of financial position include cash and bank balances, 
securities purchased under resale agreements, receivables, loans receivable, due from related companies 
and marketable securities. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables either meet the definition of loans and receivables at 
the date of acquisition, or at the date of reclassification from another category (fair value through profit or 
loss or available-for-sale), under the provisions of IAS 39 (Amendment). Financial assets which have been 
reclassified to this category, meet the definition of loans and receivables as a result of the market for these 
securities having become inactive. 
 
The Group has elected to reclassify all financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables, to available-
for-sale, once the markets for these securities become active again. 
 
Available-for-sale 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any other categories. They are initially recognised at cost, which is the cash given to originate 
the security, inclusive of any transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised 
gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments classified as available-for-sale are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the 
settlement date – the date on which an asset is delivered to or by the Group.  

 
Financial assets are assessed periodically for objective evidence of impairment.  A financial asset is 
considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  The amount of the 
impairment loss for assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.  The recoverable amount for debt instruments carried at fair value is the present value of 
expected future cash flows discounted at the current market interest rate for a similar financial asset.  If in a 
subsequent period, the impairment loss for debt securities carried at amortised cost or fair value decreases 
and that decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment, the reversal of the 
impairment is recorded in the profit or loss for the year. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(e)    Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial assets (continued) 
In the case of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value below cost is considered an indicator of impairment.  Significant or prolonged are assessed 
based on market conditions and other indicators.  If any such evidence exists for equity instruments, the 
cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment losses previously recognised in the profit or loss, is removed from equity and recognised in 
the profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised on the equity instruments are not reversed through the 
profit or loss for the year. 

Financial liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Financial liabilities include bank overdraft, securities 
sold under repurchase agreements, payables, due to related parties, redeemable preference shares and 
convertible preference shares. 

 
(f) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest 
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Interest income includes 
coupons earned on fixed income investments and accrued discounts or premiums on treasury bills and other 
discounted instruments. 

 
(g) Fees and commission income 

Fees and commission income are recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  
Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third 
party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. 

   
(h) Dividend income 

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payments is established. 
 

(i) Gain or loss on sale of investment 
Gain or loss on the disposal or maturity of investments, is determined by comparing sale proceeds with the 
carrying amount of the investment.  The amount is recognised in profit or loss for the year. 
 
When available-for-sale securities are disposed of, the related accumulated unrealised gains or losses 
included in shareholders' equity are recognised in profit or loss for the year. 
 

(j) Income taxes 
Taxation expense in the statement of comprehensive income comprises current and deferred income 
taxes. 
 
Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, which differ from the profit before tax 
reported because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other years, and items that are never 
taxable or deductible.  
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(j) Income taxes (continued) 
Deferred income tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax is provided in full, 
using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the 
determination of deferred income tax. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except where it relates to items charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case, deferred tax is also dealt with in other 
comprehensive income or equity. 

 
(k) Property, plant and equipment  

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Land and buildings are subsequently shown 
at market valuation based on triennial valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation of buildings.  All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis at annual rates to write off the carrying value of each 
asset over the period of its useful life. Land is not depreciated.  The expected useful lives of the other 
property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 

Buildings  40 years 
Office furniture, machines and equipment  10 years 
Computer equipment     3 years 
Motor vehicles   5 years 

 
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of an asset is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Revaluation gains on land and buildings are recorded net of tax in other comprehensive income. Gains and 
losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount 
and are taken into account in determining net operating revenue.  

 
Repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to profit or loss when the expenditure is incurred. 

 
(l) Receivables 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value less provision for impairment of these receivables. A 
provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present 
value of expected cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest for similar borrowings. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(m) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements  
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements) and securities purchased under 
agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreements) are treated as collateralised financing transactions. 
The difference between the sale/purchase and repurchase/resale price is treated as interest and accrued 
over the life of the repurchase agreements using the effective yield method.   

 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell and sold under agreements to repurchase are carried on 
the statement of financial position at amortised cost.  
 

(n) Payables 
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

  
(o) Fiduciary activities 

The Group commonly acts as a trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing 
of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon 
are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Group. 
 

(p) Employee benefits 
The Group maintains a pension plan for its eligible employees and agents.  The pension plan is a defined 
contribution plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The plan is 
generally funded by basic employee contributions of 5% of pensionable salary and voluntary contributions 
up to a maximum of an additional 5%. This is matched by the Group. Once the Group contributions have 
been paid the Group has no further payment obligations. The Group’s contributions to the plan are charged 
to profit or loss in the year to which they relate.  

 
(q) Intangible assets  

Separately acquired intangible assets are assessed annually for indicators of impairment and are carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment. The cost of separately acquired intangible assets 
comprises its purchase price, any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use and 
professional fees directly attributed to acquiring the asset. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line 
method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives of three years. 

 
(r) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost and comprise balances 
which mature within 90 days of the date of acquisition, including cash, short term investments and bank 
overdrafts. 

 
(s) Related party balances and transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party 
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and 
fellow subsidiaries), has significant influence over the entity or has joint control over the entity. Related 
party balances and transactions are recognised and disclosed for the following: 
 
(i)   Enterprises and individuals owning directly or indirectly an interest in the voting power of the Group,    

significant influence over the Group’s affairs and close members of the family of these individuals. 
 
(ii)  Key management personnel, that is those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,                     

directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including directors and officers and close        
members of the families of these individuals 
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3. Financial Risk Management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to 
the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 
Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.  
 
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect 
changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 

 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.  The Board, through the Asset and Liability Management Committee, Treasury 
Department, Audit Committee and Risk Manager, manages and monitors risks as follows: 
 
(i) Asset and Liability Management Committee 

This committee is responsible for monitoring the profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. This includes 
monitoring policies and procedures that are established to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity and that 
interest rate risk, currency risk and capital adequacy is also monitored. 

 
(ii) Treasury Department 

This department is responsible for managing the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. It is also 
primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks of the Group.  It manages these risks by 
monitoring the statement of financial position and ensuring that business strategies are consistent with 
liquidity requirements; measuring the capital adequacy for regulatory and business requirements; and 
monitoring the composition of the assets and liabilities of the Group. 

 
(iii) Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal 
Audit, which is outsourced. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 
 

(iv)   Risk Manager 
The Risk Manager inspects the Group’s operations by reviewing new ventures and projects, new lines of 
business, and new and existing products for risk exposure. The Risk Manager also ensures compliance 
with regulations and policies. Periodic reports are prepared by the Risk Manager and presented to senior 
management and the Board of Directors. 
 

The most important types of financial risk faced by the Group are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 
Market risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its clients or counterparties will cause a 
financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge their contractual obligations. Credit risk is a significant 
risk for the Group’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit 
exposures arise principally in lending and investment activities.  The Group structures the levels of credit 
risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to any one borrower. 
 
Credit review process 

 
The Group has established a process involving regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and other 
counterparties to meet repayment obligations.   

 
(i)    Loans 

In addition to assessments of earnings and cash flows, management assesses the existence of free 
and clear assets which are to be used as collateral in the event of default.  Loans receivable are due 
within one year. 

 
(ii) Investments and cash 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties 
that have high credit quality, and Government of Jamaica and Bank of Jamaica securities.  
Accordingly, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 
 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the 
counterparty.  Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of different types of collateral. 

 
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows: 

 
(i)  For loans receivable - charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities, and    

hypothecation of securities sold under repurchase agreements. 
 
(ii)  For securities sold under repurchase agreements – cash or securities. 

 
Management monitors the market value of collateral held and requests additional collateral in accordance 
with the underlying agreement when additional collateral is required. 
 
Impairment 
 
The main considerations for the impairment assessment for financial assets include the following: 
(i) Whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more than 90 days;  
(ii) Whether there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties or infringement of the 

original terms of the contract; and 
(iii) Whether there is any significant or prolonged decline in the market value below cost.  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Impairment (continued) 
Based on the foregoing considerations, financial assets that are individually impaired are as follows: 

 

  2012  
 

2011 
  $'000    $'000   

Investment securities (quoted equities)  4,071  61,277 
 

Debt securities 
 
The following table summarises the Group’s and company’s credit exposure for debt securities at their 
carrying amounts, as categorised by issuer: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 2012  2011  2012  2011 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Government of Jamaica and Bank of 
Jamaica 10,569,337  11,846,080  10,541,330  11,817,507 

Financial institutions 1,371,467  1,461,057  1,371,467  1,461,057 
Corporate 329,987  317,231  329,987  317,231 
 12,270,791  13,624,368  12,242,784  13,595,795 
Accrued interest 181,268  192,021  180,398  188,836 
 12,452,059  13,816,389  12,423,182  13,784,631 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due and is also unable to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The 
consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay investors and fulfil commitments to lend. 

 
Liquidity risk management process 
 
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the 
Treasury Department, includes: 
 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of 

expected cash flows and the availability of collateral which could be used to secure funding if 
required.  

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as 
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow. 

(iii) Maintaining committed lines of credit. 

(iv) Optimising cash returns on investments. 

(v) Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements. 
The most important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets to customer liabilities. 

(vi) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
 
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week 
and month, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections is 
an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the 
financial assets. 
 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is 
fundamental to the management of the Group.  It is unusual for companies ever to be completely matched 
since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to 
changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b)   Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Financial assets and liabilities cash flows 

The tables below present the undiscounted cash flows (both interest and principal cash flows) of the 
Group’s and company’s financial liabilities based on contractual rights and obligations as well as expected 
maturity and also shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s and company’s financial assets 
based on expected maturity. The Group and company expect that many customers will not request 
repayment on the earliest date the Group and company could be required to pay.  

 

 The Group 

 2012 

 

 

Within 
1 Month 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

No 
specific 
maturity Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 2,851 - - - - - 2,851 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 6,162,502 3,497,055 1,685,235 6,517 13,856 - 11,365,165 

Payables 80,726 - - - - - 80,726 
Due to related parties 582 - - - - - 582 
Redeemable 

preference shares - 218,549 - - - - 218,549 
Total financial 

liabilities (based 
on contractual 
maturity) 6,246,661 3,715,604 1,685,235 6,517 13,856 - 11,667,873 

Total financial 
liabilities (based 
on expected 
maturity) 863,695 1,938,889 2,555,056 9,366,089 17,523 - 14,741,252 

Total financial 
assets (based on 
expected maturity) 1,516,997 127,241 1,323,556 6,091,215 4,728,431 229,345 14,016,785 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

 The Group 

 2011 

 

 

Within 
1 Month 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

No 
specific 
maturity Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 4,288 - - - - - 4,288 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 5,983,500 4,220,115 2,150,820 - - - 12,354,435 

Payables 75,281 - - - - - 75,281 
Due to related parties 1,576 - - - - - 1,576 
Redeemable 

preference shares - - 19,990 205,968 - - 225,958 
Convertible 

preference shares - - 889 - - - 889 
Total financial 

liabilities (based 
on contractual 
maturity) 6,064,645 4,220,115 2,171,699 205,968 - - 12,662,427 

Total financial 
liabilities (based 
on expected 
maturity) 683,215 1,628,519 2,338,731 9,341,312 77,262 - 14,069,039 

Total financial 
assets (based on 
expected maturity) 243,131 1,777,656 2,132,893 7,368,591 11,633,977 150,340 23,306,588 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
 The Company 

 2012 

 

 

Within 
1 Month 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

No 
specific 
maturity Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 1,642 - - - - - 1,642 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 6,216,824 3,497,055 1,685,235 6,517 13,856 - 11,419,487 

Payables 64,271 - - - - - 64,271 
Due to related parties 582 - - - - - 582 
Redeemable 

preference shares - 312,012 - - - - 312,012 
Total financial 

liabilities (based 
on contractual 
maturity)  6,283,319 3,809,067 1,685,235 6,517 13,856 - 11,797,994 

Total financial 
liabilities (based 
on expected  
maturity) 846,031 1,938,889 2,555,056 9,366,089 17,523 - 14,723,588 

Total financial 
assets (based on 
expected maturity) 1,386,221 127,241 1,315,260 6,081,878 4,719,781 193,450 13,823,831 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
 The Company 

 2011 

 

 

Within 
1 Month 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

No 
specific 
maturity Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 4,288 - - - - - 4,288 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 5,983,500 4,220,115 2,150,820 - - - 12,354,435 

Payables 69,513 - - - - - 69,513 
Due to related parties 1,478 - - - - - 1,478 
Redeemable 

preference shares - - 29,397 299,970 - - 329,367 
Convertible 

preference shares - - 889 - - - 889 
Total financial 

liabilities (based 
on contractual 
maturity)  6,058,779 4,220,115 2,181,106 299,970 - - 12,759,970 

Total financial 
liabilities (based 
on expected  
maturity) 673,629 1,628,302 2,338,731 9,341,312 77,262 - 14,059,236 

Total financial 
assets (based on 
expected maturity) 200,434 1,773,088 2,128,523 7,353,405 11,620,864 115,354 23,191,668 

 
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities include cash, securities purchased under resale agreements 
and marketable securities. The Group and company are also able to meet unexpected net cash outflows 
by selling securities.  

 
The carrying amount for securities sold under repurchase agreement due within twelve months equals 
$11,419,487,000 (2011 -$12,354,435,000) for the Group and company. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk 
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Risk Manager in conjunction with the 
Treasury Manager, who carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement of financial assets on the 
local and international markets.  Generally, the Group has a low to medium risk profile and invests primarily in 
Government of Jamaica securities. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 
 
(i) Currency risk 

The Group incurs foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the Jamaican 
dollar.   
 
The Group also has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from having financial assets in 
currencies other than those in which financial liabilities are expected to settle.  The Group ensures that its net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign assets to address short term imbalances. 
 
The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the Euro, United States dollar and British pound. The Group sets 
limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions which are monitored 
daily. 

 
   The Group 
  Euro  US$  GBP Jamaican$ Total   
  J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

  2012 
Financial Assets       
Cash and bank balances  2,934 84,494 52 34,664 122,144 
Securities purchased under resale 

agreements  - 162,227 42,397 1,103,825 1,308,449 
Marketable securities and pledged 

assets  191,453 3,396,329 - 7,785,173 11,372,955 

Receivables  - - - 45,174 45,174 

Loans receivable  - - - 106,505 106,505 

Due from related parties  - - - 13,751 13,751 
Total financial assets   194,387 3,643,050 42,449 9,089,092 12,968,978 
Financial Liabilities       
Bank overdraft  - - - 2,851 2,851 
Securities sold under repurchase 

agreements  - 2,803,491 133,459 8,350,573 11,287,523 
Payables  - - - 80,726 80,726 

Due to related parties  - - - 582 582 

Redeemable preference shares  - - - 206,507 206,507 

Convertible preference shares  - - - 3,460 3,460 
Total financial  liabilities  - 2,803,491 133,459 8,644,699 11,581,649 

Net financial position  194,387 839,559 (91,010) 444,393 1,387,329 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
   The Group 
  Euro  US$  GBP Jamaican$ Total   
  J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

  2011 
Financial Assets       
Cash and bank balances  3,206 9,601 2,954 95,889 111,650 
Securities purchased under resale 

agreements  - 62,868 45,637 1,357,200 1,465,705 
Marketable securities and pledged 

assets  197,779 3,346,968 - 8,956,277 12,501,024 

Receivables  - - - 38,675 38,675 

Loans receivable  - - - 73,753 73,753 

Due from related parties  - - - 9,667 9,667 
Total financial assets   200,985 3,419,437 48,591 10,531,461 14,200,474 
Financial Liabilities       
Bank overdraft  - - - 4,288 4,288 
Securities sold under repurchase 

agreements  - 2,687,237 124,908 9,493,963 12,306,108 
Payables  - - - 75,281 75,281 

Due to related parties  - - - 1,576 1,576 

Redeemable preference shares  - - - 205,968 205,968 

Convertible preference shares  - - - 3,460 3,460 
Total financial  liabilities  - 2,687,237 124,908 9,784,536 12,596,681 

Net financial position  200,985 732,200 (76,317) 746,925 1,603,793 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
  The Company 
  Euro  US$  GBP Jamaican$ Total   
  J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

  2012 
Financial Assets       
Cash and bank balances  2,934 84,494 52 34,170 121,650 
Securities purchased under 

resale agreements  - 162,227 42,397 1,103,825 1,308,449 

Marketable securities and 
pledged assets  191,453 3,396,329 - 7,720,400 11,308,182 

Receivables  - - - 41,987 41,987 
Loans receivable  - - - 174,544 174,544 
Due from related parties  - - - 7,845 7,845 
Total financial assets   194,387 3,643,050 42,449 9,082,771 12,962,657 
       

Financial Liabilities       
Bank overdraft  - - - 1,642 1,642 
Securities sold under 

repurchase agreements  - 2,803,491 133,459 8,404,895 11,341,845 
Payables  - - - 64,271 64,271 
Due to related parties  - - - 582 582 

Redeemable preference 
shares  - - - 299,970 299,970 
Convertible preference shares  - - - 3,460 3,460 
Total financial  liabilities  - 2,803,491 133,459 8,774,820 11,711,770 

Net financial position  194,387 839,559 (91,010) 307,951 1,250,887 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
  The Company 
  Euro  US$  GBP Jamaican$ Total   
  J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

  2011 
Financial Assets       
Cash and bank balances  3,206 9,586 2,954 91,597 107,343 
Securities purchased under 

resale agreements  - 62,868 45,637 1,357,200 1,465,705 

Marketable securities and 
pledged assets  197,779 3,346,968 - 8,889,533 12,434,280 

Receivables  - - - 35,168 35,168 
Loans receivable  - - - 156,378 156,378 
Due from related parties  - - - 7,974 7,974 
Total financial assets   200,985 3,419,412 48,591 10,537,850 14,206,848 
       

Financial Liabilities       
Bank overdraft  - - - 4,288 4,288 
Securities sold under 

repurchase agreements  - 2,687,237 124,908 9,532,361 12,344,506 
Payables  - - - 69,513 69,513 
Due to related parties  - - - 1,478 1,478 

Redeemable preference 
shares  - - - 299,970 299,970 
Convertible preference shares  - - - 3,460 3,460 
Total financial  liabilities  - 2,687,237 124,908 9,911,070 12,723,215 

Net financial position  200,985 732,185 (76,317) 626,780 1,483,633 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
Foreign currency sensitivity 

 
The following tables indicate the currencies to which the Group and company had significant exposure 
on their monetary assets and liabilities and their forecast cash flows.  The change in currency rate 
below represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange 
rates.  The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items 
and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 1% devaluation and a 1% revaluation in the value of 
the Jamaican dollar (JMD) (2011 - 1% devaluation and 1% revaluation).  The sensitivity analysis 
includes cash and bank balances, securities purchased under resale agreements, marketable 
securities and securities sold under repurchase agreements.   

                                The Group and Company 

 

% Change 
in 

Currency 
Rate 

Effect on  
Profit 

before 
Tax 

Effect on 
other 

components 
of  Equity 

% Change 
in 

Currency 
Rate 

Effect on 
Profit 

before 
Tax 

Effect on  
other 

component 
of Equity 

 2012 
2012 
$’000 

2012 
$’000 2011 

2011 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

Currency:       
EURO 

(devaluation  
of JMD) 1 1,944 - 1 2,010 - 

EURO 
(revaluation  
of JMD) 1 (1,944) - 1 (2,010) - 

 USD 
(devaluation 
 of JMD) 1 8,396 - 1 7,322 - 

USD  
(revaluation 
 of JMD) 1 (8,396) - 1 (7,322) - 

GBP 
(devaluation  

of JMD) 1 (910) - 1 (763) - 
GBP  

(revaluation 
 of JMD) 1 910 - 1 763 - 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments 
expose the Group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of 
fixed and variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires the Group to manage the maturities of interest 
bearing financial assets and interest bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the level of mismatch of 
interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored daily by the Treasury Department. 
 
The following tables summarise the Group’s and company’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes financial 
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 
 

 The Group 
 2012 

 
Immediately 

rate sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non- rate 
sensitive Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets        
Cash and bank 

balances 122,144 - - - - - 122,144 
Securities purchased 

under resale 
agreements 1,051,488 251,032 5,929 - - - 1,308,449 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets 315,258 2,065,017 705,042 2,609,608 5,448,685 229,345 11,372,955 

Receivables - - - - - 45,174 45,174 

Loans receivable 106,150 355 - - - - 106,505 
Due from related 

parties - - - - - 13,751 13,751 

Total financial assets 1,595,040 2,316,404 710,971 2,609,608 5,448,685 288,270 12,968,978 

Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 2,851 - - - - - 2,851 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 6,193,783 3,448,260 1,629,795 6,294 9,391 - 11,287,523 

Payables - - - - - 80,726 80,726 

Due to related parties - - - - - 582 582 
Redeemable 

preference shares - 206,507 - - - - 206,507 
Convertible preference 

shares - 3,460 - - - - 3,460 

Total financial liabilities  6,196,634 3,658,227 1,629,795 6,294 9,391 81,308 11,581,649 
Total interest 

repricing gap (4,601,594) (1,341,823) (918,824) 2,603,314 5,439,294 206,962 1,387,329 

Cumulative gap (4,601,594) (5,943,417) (6,862,241) (4,258,927) 1,180,367 1,387,329  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 The Group 
 2011 

 
Immediately 

rate sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non- rate 
sensitive Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets        
Cash and bank 

balances 111,650 - - - - - 111,650 
Securities purchased 

under resale 
agreements 1,090,635 291,384 83,686 - - - 1,465,705 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets 215,150 81,052 610,302 3,905,970 7,538,210 150,340 12,501,024 

Receivables - - - - - 38,675 38,675 

Loans receivable 66,422 7,331 - - - - 73,753 
Due from related 

parties - - - - - 9,667 9,667 

Total financial assets 1,483,857 379,767 693,988 3,905,970 7,538,210 198,682 14,200,474 

Financial Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 4,288 - - - - - 4,288 
Securities sold under 

repurchase 
agreements 6,021,228 4,519,757 1,765,123 - - - 12,306,108 

Payables - - - - - 75,281 75,281 

Due to related parties - - - - - 1,576 1,576 
Redeemable 

preference shares - - - 205,968 - - 205,968 
Convertible preference 

shares - - - 3,460 - - 3,460 

Total financial liabilities  6,025,516 4,519,757 1,765,123 209,428 - 76,857 12,596,681 
Total interest 

repricing gap (4,541,659) (4,139,990) (1,071,135) 3,696,542 7,538,210 121,825 1,603,793 

Cumulative gap (4,541,659) (8,681,649) (9,752,784) (6,056,242) 1,481,968 1,603,793  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 The Company 

 2012 

 

 

Immediately 
rate 

sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non- rate 
sensitive Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets        
Cash and bank 

balances 121,650 - - - - - 121,650 
Securities 

purchased under 
resale 
agreements 1,051,488 251,032 5,929 - - - 1,308,449 

Marketable 
securities and 
pledged assets 312,661 2,060,711 696,746 2,603,272 5,441,342 193,450 11,308,182 

Receivables - - - - - 41,987 41,987 

Loans receivable 174,189 355 - - - - 174,544 
Due from related 

parties - - - - - 7,845 7,845 
Total financial 

assets 1,659,988 2,312,098 702,675 2,603,272 5,441,342 243,282 12,962,657 
        Financial 

Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 1,642 - - - - - 1,642 
Securities sold 

under repurchase 
agreements 6,248,105 3,448,260 1,629,795 6,294 9,391 - 11,341,845 

Payables - - - - - 64,271 64,271 
Due to related  

parties - - - - - 582 582 
Redeemable 

preference 
h  

- 299,970 - - - - 299,970 
Convertible 

preference 
shares - 3,460 - - - - 3,460 

Total financial 
liabilities  6,249,747 3,751,690 1,629,795 6,294 9,391 64,853 11,711,770 

Total interest 
repricing gap (4,589,759) (1,439,592) (927,120) 2,596,978 5,431,951 178,429 1,250,887 

Cumulative gap (4,589,759) (6,029,351) (6,956,471) (4,359,493) 1,072,458 1,250,887  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 The Company 

 2011 

 

 

Immediately 
rate 

sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non- rate 
sensitive Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets        
Cash and bank 

balances 107,343 - - - - - 107,343 
Securities 

purchased under 
resale 
agreements 1,090,635 291,384 83,686 - - - 1,465,705 

Marketable 
securities and 
pledged assets 215,795 78,306 608,944 3,890,784 7,525,097 115,354 12,434,280 

Receivables - - - - - 35,168 35,168 

Loans receivable 66,422 89,956 - - - - 156,378 
Due from related 

parties - - - - - 7,974 7,974 
Total financial 

assets 1,480,195 459,646 692,630 3,890,784 7,525,097 158,496 14,206,848 
        Financial 

Liabilities        

Bank overdraft 4,288 - - - - - 4,288 
Securities sold 

under repurchase 
agreements 6,059,626 4,519,757 1,765,123 - - - 12,344,506 

Payables - - - - - 69,513 69,513 
Due to related  

parties - - - - - 1,478 1,478 
Redeemable 

preference 
h  

- - - 299,970 - - 299,970 
Convertible 

preference 
shares - - - 3,460 - - 3,460 

Total financial 
liabilities  6,063,914 4,519,757 1,765,123 303,430 - 70,991 12,723,215 

Total interest 
repricing gap (4,583,719) (4,060,111) (1,072,493) 3,587,354 7,525,097 87,505 1,483,633 

Cumulative gap (4,583,719) (8,643,830) (9,716,323) (6,128,969) 1,396,128 1,483,633  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 

 
 The Group and Company 
 2012 

 
Immediately 

rate sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

 
Over 5 
 Years Average 

 % % % % % % 

Marketable securities denominated  
in Ja$  11.26 14.00 10.24 9.40 12.29 10.50 

Marketable securities denominated 
 in US$  - - 6.75 8.40 9.08 8.64 

Marketable securities denominated  
in EURO - - - 8.00 - 8.00 

Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in Ja$  6.13 6.81 6.81 - - 6.24 
Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in US$  3.70 3.87 - - - 3.76 
Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in GBP  3.00 - 2.65 - - 2.95 

Bank overdraft 17.85 - - - - 17.85 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
Ja$  5.95 5.96 5.69 - - 5.92 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
US$  3.46 3.66 3.69 7.00 - 3.58 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
GBP  2.75 2.34 2.39 - - 2.62 

Redeemable preference shares - 12.49 - - - 12.49 

Convertible preference shares - 9.87 - - - 9.87 

 
Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortisation of premium and discounts. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c)    Market risk (continued) 
(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 
 

 The Group and Company 
 2011 

 
Immediately 

rate sensitive 
Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
 Years 

 
Over 5 
 Years Average 

 % % % % % % 

Marketable securities denominated  
in Ja$  8.34 8.53 9.84 11.61 10.48 10.70 

Marketable securities denominated 
 in US$  - - 8.00 7.48 9.10 8.74 

Marketable securities denominated  
in EURO - - 11.00 10.50 - 10.57 

Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in Ja$  6.44 6.62 6.64 - - 6.48 
Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in US$  4.04 - - - - 4.04 
Securities purchased under  
 resale agreements-denominated 

in GBP  3.23 2.85 2.65 - - 3.12 

Bank overdraft 22.25 - - - - 22.25 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
Ja$  6.16 6.26 5.93 - - 6.16 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
US$  3.61 3.72 3.90 - - 3.72 

Securities sold under repurchase 
agreements- denominated in 
GBP  2.77 2.37 2.43 - - 2.65 

Redeemable preference shares - - - 8.33 - 8.33 

Convertible preference shares - - - 9.70 - 9.70 

 

Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortisation of premium and discounts. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, on the Group’s and company’s profit or loss and shareholders’ equity. 
 
The sensitivity of the profit or loss for the year is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on 
profit before taxation based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities.  The 
sensitivity of shareholders’ equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets 
for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates.  The change in the interest rates will impact the 
financial assets and liabilities differently. Consequently, individual analyses were performed. The effect 
on profit before taxation and other components of equity below is the total of the individual sensitivities 
done for each of the assets and liabilities.  

 
  

 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components 
of  Equity 

Effect on 
Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components 
of Equity 

 
2012 
$’000 

2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

 The Group 

Change in basis points:     

-100(2011 : -100) (35,357) 437,292 (22,769) 283,610 

+100(2011 : +100) 35,357 (398,829) 22,769 (261,521) 

 The Company 
Change in basis points:     

-100 (2011: -100) (35,314) 437,292 (22,114) 282,832 

+100 (2011: +100) 35,314 (398,829) 22,114 (260,788) 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in the 
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its 
issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group and the company are 
exposed to equity securities price risk because of certain equity and unit trust investments which they 
hold. 
 
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases on the Group’s and company’s net 
other comprehensive income (before taxation) resulting from a reasonably possible change in market 
prices. There would be no impact on profit before taxation as the equities are classified as available-for-
sale.  The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity and unit trust prices had 
increased/decreased by 5% (2011 – 5%). 

 

 
 

 Effect on  
Equity 

Effect on  
Equity 

   2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

   The Group 
Change in index:     

+5% (2011: + 5%)   11,467 7,517 
-5% (2011: – 5%)   (11,467) (7,517) 

   The Company 
Change in index:     

+5% (2011: + 5%)   9,673 3,845 
-5 %( 2011: – 5%)   (9,673) (3,845) 

 
(d)     Capital management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face 
of statements of financial position, are: 

(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the Group 
operates.  

(ii) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders’ and benefits for other stakeholders. 

(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 

 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by the Group’s management, 
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the FSC. The required information is filed 
with the FSC on a monthly basis. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(d) Capital management (continued) 
 

The company and its subsidiary, BUTM, are both regulated by the FSC. 
 

The FSC requires each bank or banking group to:  

(i) Hold the minimum level of the tier 1 capital as a percentage of total capital base. 

(ii) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets.  
 

The Group’s regulatory capital is managed by its Treasury Department and Risk Manager and is divided 
into two tiers: 

(i) Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained 
earnings. The book value of goodwill, if any, is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and 

(ii) Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised 
gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale. 

 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according 
to the nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and 
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees.  
 
The tables below summarise the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the company and 
BUTM for the years ended 30 September. During those two years, the Group complied with all of the 
externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject. 
 

 Barita 
 

BUTM 

 
2012 
$’000 

 2011 
$’000 

 2012 
$’000 

 2011 
$’000 

Tier 1 capital 1,439,509  1,220,345 
 

134,043 
 

120,662 

Tier 2 capital 93,821  93,821  -  - 

Total regulatory capital 1,533,420  1,314,166  134,043  120,662 
 
Barita 

 
2012  2011 

 Actual Required 
 

Actual Required 
Regulatory Capital/Risk-weighted assets 18% >10%  22% >10% 
Tier 1 Capital/Capital base 94% >50%  93% >50% 

 
BUTM 

 
2012  2011 

 Actual Required 
 

Actual Required 
Regulatory Capital/Risk-weighted assets 79% >10%  79% >10% 
Tier 1 Capital/Capital base 100% >50%  100% >50% 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
(e) Fair values of financial instruments 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at year end. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. 

  
The financial instruments that, subsequent to initial recognition, are measured at fair value are grouped into 
levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable, as follows: 
(i) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical instruments; 
(ii) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 

within level 1 that are observable for the instrument, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices); and  

(iii) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The following table presents the Group’s and company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value. There 
are no liabilities that are measured at fair value at the year end, and the Group had no instruments classified in 
Level 3 during the year.  There were no transfers between levels during the year. 
  

    The Group 
    2012 

At 30 September 2012    
Level 1 

$’000  
Level 2 

$’000  
Total 
$’000 

Available-for-sale financial assets -         

Equity securities    222,698  6,647  229,345 

Debt securities    -  11,117,909  11,117,909 

    222,698  11,124,556  11,347,254 
 
    2011 

At 30 September 2011    
Level 1 

$’000  
Level 2 

$’000  
Total 
$’000 

Available-for-sale financial assets -         

Equity securities    137,692  12,648  150,340 

Debt securities    -  12,350,684  12,350,684 

    137,692  12,363,332  12,501,024 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
(e)   Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

    The Company 
    2012 

At 30 September 2012    
Level 1 

$’000  
Level 2 

$’000  
Total 
$000 

Available-for-sale financial assets -         
Equity securities    193,450  -  193,450 
Debt securities    -  11,089,031  11,089,031 

 
 
 
 

   193,450  11,089,031  11,282,481 
 
    2011 

At 30 September 2011    
Level 1 

$’000  
Level 2 

$’000  
Total 
$000 

Available-for-sale financial assets -         
Equity securities    115,354  -  115,354 
Debt securities    -  12,318,926  12,318,926 

    115,354  12,318,926  12,434,280 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market for which there are no quoted 
market prices, is determined by using valuation techniques.  When using valuation techniques, the Group 
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at year 
end.  The following methods and assumptions have been used: 
 
(i) Investments securities classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value by reference to 

quoted market prices when available.  If quoted prices are not available, then fair values estimated on 
the basis of pricing models or other recognised valuation techniques. 

 
(ii) The fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within three months is assumed to 

approximate their carrying amount.  This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short term 
elements of all other financial instruments. 

 
(iii) The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their carrying value. 
 

(iv) The fair value of securities sold under agreements to repurchase is assumed to approximate to their 
carrying amounts, due to the short term maturity on these instruments. The fair value of redeemable 
and convertible preference shares (classified as debt) was determined using the quoted price at 30 
September to be $223,795,000 (2011 - $223,020,000) for the Group and $318,817,000 (2011 - 
$318,589,000) for the company. 

 
(v) Equity securities for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognised at cost less 

impairment.  
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
(a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has not made any judgements 
that would cause a significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

  
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below: 

 
Taxes 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made. 

 
Should the actual final outcome (on the judgemental areas) to differ by 10% from management’s estimates, 
the Group would need to: 
• Increase the income tax liability by $11,689,000 and the deferred tax liability by $1,253,000, if 

unfavourable; or 
• Decrease the income tax liability by $11,689,000 and the deferred tax liability by $1,253,000, if 

favourable. 
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5. Segment Reporting 
 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors that are 
used to make strategic decisions.  The Group is organised and managed in business segments based on its business 
activities which are all located in Jamaica. The designated segments are as follows: 

 
(a) Fixed income – this includes money market activities and securities broking 
 
(b) Funds management – this includes the administration of two unit trust funds 

 
(c) Other operations – this includes the operation of foreign exchange cambio, stock broking and any other income. 

 
The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted profit before 
tax.  The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the reportable segments for the year ended  
30 September 2012 is as follows: 

 
  The Group 

  30 September 2012 

 
  Fixed  

Income 
 Funds 

Management Other Group 
   $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Total segment revenue   1,318,519  76,701 103,356 1,498,576 
Inter-segment revenue   (7,308)  (7,923) - (15,231) 
Total gross external revenue   1,311,211  68,778 103,356 1,483,345 
        
Total expenses   (679,630)  (51,813) - (731,443) 
Inter-segment expense   7,923  7,308 - 15,231 
   (671,707)  (44,505) - (716,212) 
Segment results   639,504  24,273 103,356 767,133 
Unallocated expenses       (419,526) 
Profit before tax       347,607 
Taxation       (92,644) 
Net profit       254,963 

        
Segment assets   12,791,175  229,557 - 13,020,732 
Inter-segment assets   (68,269)  (149,988) - (218,257) 
Net segment assets   12,722,906  79,569 - 12,802,475 
Unallocated assets       760,177 
Total assets       13,562,652 

        
Segment liabilities   11,645,275  95,269 - 11,740,544 
Inter-segment liabilities   (147,785)  (68,269) - (216,054) 
Net segment liabilities   11,497,490  27,000 - 11,524,490 
Unallocated liabilities       336,789 
Total liabilities       11,861,279 
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5.     Segment Reporting (Continued) 
 

  The Group 

  30 September 2011 

 
  Fixed  

Income 
 Funds 

Management Other Group 
   $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Total segment revenue   1,534,381  64,659 63,580 1,662,620 
Inter-segment revenue   (13,103)  (12,891) - (25,994) 
Total gross external revenue   1,521,278  51,768 63,580 1,636,626 
        
Total expenses   (899,113)  (48,160) - (947,273) 
Inter-segment expense   13,103  12,891 - 25,994 
   (886,010)  (35,269) - (921,279) 
Segment results       715,347 
Unallocated expenses       (390,571) 
Profit before tax       324,776 
Taxation       (105,697) 
Net profit       219,079 

        
Segment assets   14,056,363  214,762 - 14,271,125 
Inter-segment assets   (135,923)  (82,625) - (218,548) 
Net segment assets   13,920,440  132,137 - 14,052,577 
Unallocated assets       753,144 
Total assets       14,805,721 

        
Segment liabilities   12,647,936  94,100 - 12,742,036 
Inter-segment liabilities   (177,938)  (38,398) - (216,336) 
Net segment liabilities   12,469,998  55,702 - 12,525,700 
Unallocated liabilities       520,451 
Total liabilities       13,046,151 

 
Revenue between segments is recorded on the basis outlined in Note 2 (f).  The accounting policies used to 
record income, assets and liabilities is consistent for all segments.  There was no change in the method used 
to determine reportable segments when compared to the previous year. 
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5. Segment Reporting (Continued) 
 

Profit from the reportable segments is reconciled to the Group’s profit before taxation as follows: 

   The Group 

    
 2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Profit from reportable segments     767,133  715,347 
        

Unallocated costs -        

Operating expenses    
 

(419,526)  (390,571) 
     347,607  324,776 

 
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to the Group’s total assets as follows: 

 

   The Group 

    
 2012 

$’000 
 

 
2011 
$’000 

 Segment assets from reportable segments     12,802,475  14,052,577 
Unallocated assets -        

Cash and bank balances     121,650  107,343 
Receivables     411,687  436,335 
Due from related parties     7,845  7,974 
Property, plant and equipment     168,568  165,987 
Intangible assets     50,425  35,503 
Investments     2  2 

     13,562,652  14,805,721 
 

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to the Group’s total liabilities as follows: 
 

   The Group 

    
 2012 

$’000 
 

 
2011 

$’000 
 

Segment liabilities from reportable segments     11,524,490  12,525,700 
Unallocated liabilities -        

Bank overdraft     1,642  4,288 
Payables     80,581  75,116 
Due to related parties     582  1,478 
Taxation     82,132  109,201 
Deferred tax liabilities     171,852  330,368 

     11,861,279  13,046,151 
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6. Expense by Nature 
 

 The Group  The Company 

  
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000 
 2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000 
Advertising and promotion 38,438  30,671  34,365  26,768 
Asset tax 16,310  35  16,310  35 
Auditors' remuneration -         

Current  7,145  7,201  5,680  5,801 
Prior (393)  -  (393)  - 

Bank charges and interest 7,115  8,015  7,115  8,015 
Depreciation and amortisation 15,114  11,795  14,122  10,815 
Directors’ fees 438  550  438  550 
Impairment of available-for-sale  

investments 4,071  61,277 
 

4,071 
 

61,277 
Insurance 8,888  7,955  8,408  7,555 
Fund expenses 1,964  1,314  -  - 
Office expenses 9,939  10,657  8,786  9,725 
Professional fees 13,378  8,890  13,322  8,722 
Registration and license fees 5,607  4,489  5,607  4,489 
Rent 1,468  1,084  1,468  1,084 
Repairs and maintenance 3,873  4,286  3,760  4,111 
Security costs 5,479  5,686  5,479  5,686 
Software maintenance 4,853  3,620  4,853  3,620 
Staff costs (Note 7) 250,940  207,715  224,684  188,968 
Utilities 21,670  18,556  19,667  16,357 
Other expenses 45,076  29,381  41,784  26,993 
 461,373  423,177  419,526  390,571 

 
The increase in asset tax was due to a change in the basis used to derive the tax.  

 
7. Staff Costs 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000  

2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Wages and salaries 181,448  150,512  158,309  134,154 
Commissions 25,758  24,561  25,758  24,561 
Statutory contributions 18,485  15,831  17,269  14,755 
Pension costs  9,416  8,136  8,918  7,658 
Other staff benefits 15,833  8,675  14,430  7,840 

 250,940  207,715  224,684  188,968 
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8. Taxation Expense 
 

(a) Income tax is computed on the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and comprises income 
tax at 33 ⅓%: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Current year tax charge 116,893  114,454  111,850  109,203 
Prior year over provision (11,720)  -  (11,720)  - 
Deferred income tax (Note 20) (12,529)  (8,757)  (12,270)  (12,083) 

 92,644  105,697  87,860  97,120 
 

(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax expense to effective tax charge. 
 

The Group’s taxation expense differs from the theoretical amount that would arise from the profit before tax 
using the applicable tax rate of the Group as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Profit before taxation 347,607  324,776  322,719  308,277 
        
Tax calculated at 33 ⅓% 115,869  108,259  107,573  102,759 
Adjusted for the effects of:        
Income not subject to tax (18,904)  (14,411)  (18,203)  (14,152) 
Expenses not allowable for  tax purposes 14,778  9,135  14,675  9,058 
Prior year over provision (11,720)  -  (11,720)  - 
Other charges and allowances (7,379)  2,714  (4,465)  (545) 
Income tax expense  92,644  105,697  87,860  97,120 
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8. Taxation Expense (Continued) 
 

(c) The gains recorded in other comprehensive income and the related tax charges are as follows: 
 

 The Group 

 
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000  

 Before tax  Taxation  After tax  Before tax  Taxation  After tax 
Unrealised gains/ 

(losses) on 
available-for-sale 
investments (324,388)  113,047  (211,341)  769,863  (262,057)  507,806 

Net gains recycled 
to profit or loss on 
disposal, maturity 
and impairment of 
available-for-sale 
investments (92,535)  30,845  (61,690)  (146,575)  48,858  

 
(97,717) 

Surplus on 
revaluation of 
property, plant 
and equipment -  -  -  38,877  (11,474)  27,403 
 (416,923)  143,892  (273,031)  662,165  (224,673)  437,492 

 

 The Company 

 
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000  

 Before tax  Taxation  After tax  Before tax  Taxation  After tax 
Unrealised  gains/ 

(losses) on 
available-for-sale 
investments (320,273)  115,401  (204,872)  758,863  (261,596)  497,267 

Net gains recycled 
to profit or loss on 
disposal, maturity 
and impairment of 
available-for-sale 
investments (92,535)  30,845  (61,690)  (140,319)  46,773  (93,546) 

Surplus on 
revaluation of 
property, plant 
and equipment -  -  -  38,877  (11,474)  27,403 
 (412,808)  146,246  (266,562)  657,421  (226,297)  431,124 
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9. Net Profit/Retained Earnings 
 

The net profit and retained earnings of the Group are reflected in the accounts of the company and its subsidiary 
as follows: 

  2012  
 

2011 
  $'000    $'000   

Net Profit     
  Holding company  234,859  211,157 
  Subsidiary  20,104  7,922 

  254,963  219,079 

Retained Earnings     

  Holding company  643,816  449,086 

  Subsidiary  110,197  90,093 

  754,013  539,179 
 
10. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

  The Group  The Company 

  2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000  

2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Cash in hand  114  114  114   114 
Cash at bank   122,030  111,536  121,536  107,229 
  122,144  111,650  121,650  107,343 
Bank overdrafts   (2,851)  (4,288)  (1,642)  (4,288) 

  119,293  107,362  120,008  103,055 
 
Cash at bank comprises mainly amounts held in current accounts, which attract interest at 0.05% – 3.5%. 

 
The Group’s overdraft facilities of $30,000,000 (2011 - $25,000,000) with FirstCaribbean International Bank 
Limited are secured by Government of Jamaica Investment Note with a face value of $35,000,000 (2011 - 
$35,000,000). The weighted average effective interest rate on the overdraft facilities is 17.85% (2011 – 17.85%). 
 

11. Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements 
 

The Group and company have entered into repurchase agreements collaterised by Government of Jamaica (GOJ) 
securities.  These agreements may result in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the transaction is 
unable to fulfill its contractual obligations.  These agreements will mature within twelve months. Included in 
securities purchased under resale agreements is accrued interest for the Group and company of $4,124,000, 
respectively (2011 - $4,648,000). 

 
All amounts are due within twelve months. 
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12. Marketable Securities  
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Available-for-sale -        

Quoted equities 222,698  137,692  193,450  115,354 
 Government of Jamaica (GOJ) bonds 10,631,654  11,841,432  10,604,347  11,812,859 
Corporate bonds 304,987  317,231  304,987  317,231 
Unit Trust Funds 6,647  12,648  -  - 

 11,165,986  12,309,003  11,102,784  12,245,444 

Accrued interest 181,268  192,021  179,697  188,836 
 11,347,254  12,501,024  11,282,481  12,434,280 

Loans and receivables -        
Corporate bond 25,000  -  25,000  - 
Accrued interest 701  -  701  - 

 25,701  -  25,701  - 
 11,372,955  12,501,024  11,308,182  12,434,280 

Less Pledged assets (Note 13) (5,102,514)  (4,029,643)  (5,102,514)  (4,029,643) 
 6,270,441  8,471,381  6,205,668  8,404,637 

 
At 30 September 2012, the fair value of marketable securities disclosed as loans and receivable was $24,536,000. 
 
The current portion of marketable securities amounted to $793,506,000 (2011 - $716,840,000) for the Group and 
$785,467,000 (2011 - $712,737,000) for the company. 

 
At 30 September, the Group and company held in trust marketable securities with face value of $1,663,684,000 
(2011 - $1,608,617,000). These amounts were excluded from the statement of financial position as the Group did 
not have the legal right of ownership to these instruments. 
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13. Pledged Assets 
 
Assets of the Group are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements with customers and financial 
institutions. The Group also has investment securities that are pledged as security in relation to overdraft and other 
facilities with the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) and other financial institutions.  

 

     
The Group and Company 

     Asset  Related Liability 

     

 
2012 

$’000 

  
2011 

$’000  

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 

Investment securities:            
Pledged with 

customers     5,066,132  3,991,236  4,724,286  3,645,224 
Pledged with BOJ 

and other 
financial 
institutions     36,382  38,407  1,642  4,288 
     5,102,514  4,029,643  4,725,928     3,649,512 

 
14. Receivables 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
 2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Receivable from clients 27,265  21,145  27,265  21,127 
Prepaid expenses 4,368  4,503  4,368  3,872 
Withholding tax  369,212  397,295  365,332  397,295 
Other  17,909  17,530  14,722  14,041 

 418,754  440,473  411,687  436,335 
 

Receivables collectible within twelve months amounted to $45,174,000 (2011 - $38,675,000) for the Group and 
$41,987,000 (2011 - $35,168,000) for the company. 
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15. Earnings per Share 
 

(a) Basic 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by 
the company and held as treasury shares (Note 22). 

 
 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 254,963  219,079 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 443,416  443,416 
Basic earnings per share $0.57  $0.49 

 
(b) Diluted 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. At 30 September 2012 and 2011, 
the company’s convertible preference shares were anti-dilutive.  

 
16. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

Related parties are identified below, as companies with which there are common directors and/or common 
shareholders, and key management personnel. Key management personnel are those persons having authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including directors and 
officers and close members of the families of these individuals. 

 
(a) The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the year: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

 2012 
$’000 

 2011 
$’000 

Barita Unit Trusts Management Company  
          Limited - 

    
 

 
 

Interest paid on investments -  -  (7,923)  (13,103) 
Rental income received -  -  404  573 
Interest received on loans -  -  7,308  12,891 
        

Barita Unit Trust Funds-        
Management fees 58,678  41,718  -  - 
Interest paid on investments (3,060)  (9,913)  (3,060)  (9,913) 
Gain on disposal of investments 552  6,255  -  - 

 
Barita Leasing Limited -        

Interest paid on investments (1,288)  (1,376)  (1,288)  (1,376) 
        
Directors -        

Interest paid on investments (3,057)  (443) 
 

(3,057) 
 

(443) 
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16. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 
(b)    The balances at year end were as follows: 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

 2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Receivables -         

Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
Limited -  -  230  388 

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund 5,939  1,884  -  - 
Barita Education Fund 7,438  7,438  7,438  7,438 
Key management personnel 29  -  29  - 
Other related parties 345  345  148  148 

 13,751  9,667  7,845  7,974 

Payables -         
Barita Leasing Limited (576)  (1,472)  (576)  (1,472) 
Barita Education Fund (6)  (6)  (6)  (6) 
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund -  (98)  -  - 
 (582)  (1,576)  (582)  (1,478) 

        
Marketable securities -         
       Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund 6,647  6,000  -  -

 
 

       Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund -  10,674  -  4,026 
 6,647  16,674  -  4,026 

Securities sold under repurchase agreement -        
Barita Leasing Limited (21,790)  (20,825)  (21,790)  (20,825) 
Barita Unit Trust Management 
 Company Limited -  -  (54,322)  (38,390) 

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund (138,292)  (200,588)  (138,292)  (200,588) 

Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund (26,900)  (7,500)  (26,900)  (7,500) 

Barita Group Pension Scheme (9,020)  (10,427)  (9,020)  (10,427) 
Key management personnel (3,046)  (4,701)  (3,046)  (4,701) 
Directors (24,390)  (4,438)  (24,390)  (4,438) 

 (223,438)  (248,479)  (277,760)  (286,869) 
 

All amounts recorded in receivables, payables and securities sold under repurchase agreements are due 
within twelve months.   



Barita Investments Ltd. / Annual Report 2012 

104

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2
( e x p r e s s e d  i n  J a m a i c a n  d o l l a r s  u n l e s s  o t h e r w i s e  i n d i c a t e d ) Page 53 

Barita Investments Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements   
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 

16. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 
(b)  The balances at year end were as follows: 

 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Redeemable preference shares -   
Barita Unit Trusts Management 

Company Limited -  -  (93,463)  (95,569) 
        

Loans receivable        
Barita Unit Trusts Management 

Company -  -  68,039  82,624 
 

The loan receivable is secured by preference shares in the company.  Redeemable preference shares and 
loans receivable are due within twelve months. 

 
(c)  Key management compensation 
 

       The Group  The Company 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

 2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Salaries 84,396  69,844  74,607  61,825 
Statutory deductions 7,176  5,794  6,897  5,794 
Pension 3,851  3,246  3,851  3,246 
Commission 15,174  16,799  15,174  16,799 

 110,597  95,683  100,529  87,664 
 

Directors’ emoluments – 
Management remuneration 
(included in staff costs) 20,936  16,553  10,868  8,534 
Directors’ fees 438  550  438  550 

 21,374  17,103  11,306  9,084 
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

 The Group 

 
Land & 

Buildings 

Office 
Furniture, 

Machines & 
Equipment 

Computer 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2012 

At Cost or Valuation -      

1 October 2011 147,104 27,998 28,099 14,551 217,752 

Additions - 7,221 3,737 3,865 14,823 

At 30 September 2012 147,104 35,219 31,836 18,416 232,575 

Depreciation -      
1 October 2011 1,248 16,311 21,207 11,042 49,808 
Charge for the year 3,133 2,797 3,815 3,355 13,100 

At 30 September 2012 4,381 19,108 25,022 14,397 62,908 

Net Book Value -      

30 September 2012 142,723 16,111 6,814 4,019 169,667 

 2011 

At Cost or Valuation -      

1 October 2010 114,818 26,963 23,371 14,551 179,703 

Additions 526 1,046 4,728 - 6,300 

Revaluation adjustment 31,760 - - - 31,760 

Disposals - (11) - - (11) 

At 30 September 2011 147,104 27,998 28,099 14,551 217,752 

Depreciation -      

1 October 2010 5,116 14,732 18,042 8,331 46,221 

Charge for the year 3,249 1,587 3,165 2,711 10,712 

Revaluation adjustment (7,117) - - - (7,117) 

Disposals - (8) - - (8) 

At 30 September  2011 1,248 16,311 21,207 11,042 49,808 

Net Book Value -      

30 September 2011 145,856 11,687 6,892 3,509 167,944 
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)  
 
 The Company  

 
    Land & 
Buildings 

Office    
Furniture, 
Machines 

and 
Equipment 

 
  Computer 
Equipment 

       Motor 
Vehicles Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2012 
 At Cost or Valuation -      

  At 1 October 2011 146,026 27,195 24,781 10,626 208,628 

 Additions - 7,087 3,737 3,865 14,689 

 At 30 September 2012 146,026 34,282 28,518 14,491 223,317 

 Depreciation -      

 At 1 October 2011 254 15,822 18,206 8,359 42,641 

 Charge for the year 3,089 2,757 3,692 2,570 12,108 

 At 30 September 2012 3,343 18,579 21,898 10,929 54,749 

 Net Book Value -      

  At 30 September 2012 142,683 15,703 6,620 3,562 168,568 

 2011 
 At Cost or Valuation -      

  At 1 October 2010 113,740 26,182 20,053 10,626 170,601 

 Additions 526 1,024 4,728 - 6,278 

 Revaluation adjustment 31,760 - - - 31,760 

 Disposals - (11) - - (11) 

 At 30 September 2011 146,026 27,195 24,781 10,626 208,628 

 Depreciation -      

 At 1 October 2010 4,166 14,270 15,164 6,434 40,034 

 Charge for the year 3,205 1,560 3,042 1,925 9,732 

 Revaluation adjustment (7,117) - - - (7,117) 

 Relieved on disposals - (8) - - (8) 

 At 30 September 2011 254 15,822 18,206 8,359 42,641 

 Net Book Value -      

  At 30 September 2011 145,772 11,373 6,575 2,267 165,987 
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
 
The Group’s land and building was revalued as at September 2011 by D.C. Tavares & Finson Realty Limited, 
professionally qualified property appraisers.  The valuations were done on the basis of open market value. 
 
The historical cost of land and building is not available. 

 
18.   Intangible Assets 

 
  The Group and Company 

 

 

 
  Computer 

Software 

 Software 
development 

work in 
progress Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2012 
 At Cost or Valuation -     

  At 1 October 2011  13,313 30,994 44,307 

 Additions  765 16,171 16,936 

 At 30 September 2012  14,078 47,165 61,243 

 Amortisation -     

 At 1 October 2011  8,804 - 8,804 

 Charge for the year  2,014 - 2,014 

 At 30 September 2012  10,818 - 10,818 

 Net Book Value -     

  At 30 September 2012  3,260 47,165 50,425 

  2011 
 At Cost or Valuation -     

  At 1 October 2010  9,070 14,823 23,893 

 Additions  4,243 16,171 20,414 

 At 30 September 2011  13,313 30,994 44,307 

 Amortisation -     

 At 1 October 2010  7,721 - 7,721 

 Charge for the year  1,083 - 1,083 

 At 30 September 2011  8,804 - 8,804 

 Net Book Value -     

  At 30 September 2011  4,509 30,994 35,503 

 
Software development costs were capitalised as it is expected that economic benefits attributable to the use of 
the software will flow to the Group.  This software is expected to replace the current investment management 
system used by the Group. 

 
  



Barita Investments Ltd. / Annual Report 2012 

108

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 2
( e x p r e s s e d  i n  J a m a i c a n  d o l l a r s  u n l e s s  o t h e r w i s e  i n d i c a t e d )

Page 57 

Barita Investments Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements   
30 September 2012 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 

19. Investment 

 
2012 
$’000  

2011 
$’000 

Seat on the Jamaica Stock Exchange 2  2 
 
 This investment is carried at cost as the fair value of the stock exchange seat cannot be reliably determined.  
 

20. Deferred Taxation 
 

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 33⅓%. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forwards to the extent that realisation of the 
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 
The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial position: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 2012  2011   2012  2011  
 $’000   $’000  $’000   $’000 

Deferred tax assets -  (1,763)  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities 185,786  330,368  193,225  330,368 
 185,786  328,605  193,225  330,368 

 
 The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period is as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 2012  2011   2012   2011 
 $’000   $’000  $’000   $’000 

Net liabilities at beginning of year 328,605  112,689  330,368  116,154 
Charged to profit or loss (Note 8) (12,529)  (8,757)  (12,270)  (12,083) 
(Credited)/charged to other comprehensive 

income (Note 8) (143,892)  224,673  (146,246)  226,297 
Net liabilities at end of year 172,184  328,605  171,852  330,368 

 
Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the withholding tax that would be payable on the 
unappropriated profits of subsidiaries as the amounts are not subject to tax.  Such un-appropriated profits totaled 
$110,197,000 as at 30 September 2012 (2011 - $90,093,000)(See Note 9). 
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20. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 
 
     The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax 
 jurisdiction) during the period is as follows: 
 

 The Group 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Fair value 

gains 
Accelerated 
depreciation 

Interest 
receivable 

Exchange 
gain Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 October 2010 13,268 26,549 57,211 71,423 168,451 

(Credited)/charged to profit 
or loss (29,446) (9,065) 3,870 3,185 (31,456) 

Charged to other 
comprehensive income 213,199 11,474 - - 224,673 

At 1 October 2011 197,021 28,958 61,081 74,608 361,668 

(Credited)/charged to profit 
or loss (13,710) (3,028) (2,653) 2,306 (17,085) 

Credited to other 
comprehensive income (143,892) - - - (143,892) 

At 30 September 2012 39,419 25,930 58,428 76,914 200,691 

      

Deferred tax assets   
Taxes 
losses 

Interest 
payable Total 

   $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 October 2010   3,506 52,256 55,762 

Charged to profit or loss   (3,506) (19,193) (22,699) 

At 1 October 2011   - 33,063 33,063 

Charged to profit or loss   - (4,556) (4,556) 

At 30 September 2012   - 28,507 28,507 
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20.   Deferred Taxation (Continued) 
 

 The Company 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Fair value 

gains 
Accelerated 
depreciation 

Interest 
receivable 

Exchange 
gain Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 October 2010 13,998 27,262 56,951 71,423 169,634 

Charged/(credited) to 
profit or loss  (29,446) (9,703) 3,066 3,185 (32,898) 

Charged to other 
comprehensive income 214,823 11,474 - - 226,297 

At 1 October 2011 199,375 29,033 60,017 74,608 363,033 

(Credited)/ charged  to profit 
or loss (13,710) (3,015) (2,113) 2,306 (16,532) 

Credited to other 
comprehensive income (146,246) - - - (146,246) 

At 30 September 2012 39,419 26,018 57,904 76,914 200,255 

      

Deferred tax assets   
Taxes 
losses 

Interest 
payable Total 

      

At 1 October 2010   3,506 49,974 53,480 

Charged to profit or loss   (3,506) (17,309) (20,815) 

At 1 October 2011   - 32,665 32,665 

Charged to profit or loss   - (4,262) (4,262) 

At 30 September 2012   - 28,403 28,403 
 
       The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more 

than 12 months (65,349)  (225,979)  (65,437)  (228,408) 
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after 

more than 12 months -  -  -  - 
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21. Payables 
 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000 
 2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Client funds 32,772  31,019  31,122  31,018 
Statutory liabilities 16,732  7,488  16,310  5,603 
Other  47,954  44,262  33,149  38,495 

 97,458  82,769  80,581  75,116 
 

All amounts recorded as payables are due within twelve months. 
 
22.  Share Capital and Treasury Shares 

  

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000  
2011 

$’000 
Authorised ordinary shares 600,000,000  

 (2011 – 600,000,000)        

Authorised redeemable preference shares 
100,000,000 (2011 – 100,000,000)        

Authorised convertible preference shares 
100,000,000 (2011 – 100,000,000)        

        
(a) Issued and fully paid ordinary   

 shares of no par value        
 445,001,824 (2011 – 445,001,824)  754,994  754,994  754,994  754,994 

(b) Issued and fully paid preference  
shares:         

Series ‘A’ 2012 redeemable cumulative 
variable rate preference shares 299,970  299,970  299,970  299,970 

Series ‘B’ 2012 convertible cumulative 
variable rate preference shares 13,620  13,620  13,620  13,620 

 1,068,584  1,068,584  1,068,584  1,068,584 
Less preference shares accounted for 

as liabilities under IFRS (303,430)  (303,430)  (303,430)  (303,430) 

 765,154  765,154  765,154  765,154 
        
(c)  Treasury shares (10,145)  (10,145)  (9,500)  (9,500) 
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22. Share Capital and Treasury Shares (Continued) 
 
The company has the following issued share capital: 
 
(i) 200,000,000 ordinary shares; 
(ii) 99,990,000 redeemable preference shares; and 
(iii) 4,540,000 convertible preference shares 
  
The shares were listed on the JSE on 15 January 2010.   
 
BUTM participated in the Barita’s initial public offering by acquiring 598,000 ordinary shares and 45,290,000 
redeemable preference shares. The ordinary shares acquired by BUTM are treated as treasury shares in the 
consolidated financial statements while the redeemable preference shares have been eliminated, as discussed 
below.   
 
Redeemable preference shares 
The significant terms and conditions of the redeemable preferences shares are as follows: 

 
(i) The right to cumulative dividends at a variable rate which was agreed at 16.5% in the first year. 

 
(ii) In the event of winding up or other return of capital, the right to be paid in priority to any holder of ordinary 

shares. 
 

(iii) No right to vote at any general meeting except in the event of a failure to pay two consecutive dividends 
payment period or on winding up of the company. 
 

(iv) Mandatory redemption of the shares at $3 per share no later than three years after the date of issue.  
 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32, these preference shares were classified as a liability as the terms of 
the preference shares resulted in the company incurring an unavoidable obligation of the company to pay cash. 
The dividends declared on the preference shares are dealt with in the profit and loss and are part of interest 
expense. The carrying value of the preference shares issued to BUTM of $93,463,000 (2011- $95,569,000) has 
been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements, resulting in the carrying value of the redeemable 
preference shares being $206,507,000 (2011 -$205,968,000) for the Group. The reduction in the carrying value of 
BUTM’s holdings resulted from a sale to a third party. 
 
Redeemable preference shares are due within twelve months. 

 
Convertible preference shares 
The significant terms and conditions of the convertible preference shares are similar to the redeemable preference 
shares with the exception of the following: 
 
(i) The right to cumulative dividends at a variable rate which was agreed at 12% in the first year. 
 
(ii) These shares are mandatorily converted into ordinary shares using a specified conversion formula, in 

November 2012. 
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22. Share Capital and Treasury Shares (Continued) 
 
In accordance with IAS 32, the convertible preference shares were deemed to be a hybrid financial instrument with 
both a debt and an equity component. Consistent with the requirement of the standard, the instrument was 
separated into its component parts to facilitate separate recognition. The value of the liability component and the 
equity component were determined at the date the preference shares were issued.  The liability component of 
$3,460,000 was determined by calculating the present value of the dividend payments using a market interest rate 
for a similar non-convertible bond as the discount factor.  The residual amount of $10,160,000, representing the 
equity component, was included in share capital. 
 
Convertible preference share are due within twelve months. 
 

23. Capital Reserve 
 
This represents the unrealised surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment for the company, and 
unrealised surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment less consolidation adjustments to account for 
the acquisition of BUTM for the Group. The movement on the capital reserve is as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000  
2012 

$’000 
 2011 

$’000 
   At 1 October  28,506  1,103  90,361  62,958 

Revaluation surplus, net of taxes -  27,403  -  27,403 
30 September 28,506  28,506  90,361  90,361 

 
24. Fair Value Reserve 

 
This represents the unrealised surplus or deficit on the revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities. 

 
25. Dividends 

 
A dividend of $0.09 per ordinary stock was paid on 27 January 2012. 
 
Preference dividends were paid as follows: 
 
Convertible preference shares 

• Paid dividends of $0.0987 on 5 December 2011 
• Paid dividends of $0.0987 on 19 June 2012 
• Paid dividends of $0.0985 on 6 December 2012 

 
Redeemable preference shares 

• Paid dividends of $0.1249 on 5 December 2011 
• Paid dividends of $0.1249 on 19 June 2012 
• Paid dividends of $0.1221 on 6 December 2012 

 
Preference dividends are recorded as part of interest expense. 
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I/We..............................................................................................................

of ..................................................................................................................

being a member/members of the Barita Investments Limited, hereby appoint

.....................................................................................................................

of ..................................................................................................................

or failing him/her.............................................................................................

of ........................................................................................................as my/

our Proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held at the Courtleigh Hotel, 85 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 
5 on Thursday, February 21, 2013, at 10:00 a.m.

Dated the...................................... date of.............................................2013

Signed: ........................................................................................................

NOTES:
1. This Form of Proxy must be received by the Secretary of the Company not 

less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

2. This Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of $100. 

3. If the appointer is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed 
under its common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorized in writing.

Proxy
Bari ta Investments Limited

J$ 100

STAMP
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